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ALCOHOL.THINK AGAIN PERTH HEAT
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Tyler ANDERSON  (Pitching Coach) 	  
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Erin DIAMOND  (Team Physiotherapist)	  	  
Carol WILLIAMS  (Assistant Team Physiotherapist
DIAMOND FITNESS  Strength and Conditioning	   
Johnny OGILVIE Logistics and Clubhouse ManagerPICTURED BELOW:  St Mark's Anglican 

Communty School - winner off the Primary chools 
Baseball Competition.



ANNUAL REPORT BASEBALL WA LTD
ACN: 087 442 822

Notice of Annual General Meeting

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Baseball WA Ltd will be held as follows:

Venue:	 Department of Sport and Recreation
	 240 Vincent Street
	 Leederville WA 
Date:	 Tuesday 8th December 2020
Time:	 7.00pm

Agenda
1.	 APOLOGIES AND ATTENDANCE

2.	 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	 –    Annual General Meeting of 28th January 2020	

3.	 PRESENTATIONS
	 –    Good Spors -- Alana Walker

4.	 ORDINARY BUSINESS
	 –    Chairman’s Report	 (To be tabled)
	 –    Financial Statements	 (To be tabled)
	 To receive and consider the Financial Statements, Directors’ Declaration and Reports of the  

 Directors and Auditors in respect of the year ended 30 June 2020	 (To be tabled)

5.	 BASEBALL WA STATE OF THE GAME PRESENTATION

6.	 BASEBALL WA LIFE MEMBERSHIP

7.	 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
	 –    Appointment of three (3) vacant Director positions
	       **   Vacant
	       **   Vacant
	       **   Vacant

8.	 APPOINTMENT OF AUDITOR

9.	 CLOSE

Dated at Perth this 13th November 2020             BY ORDER OF THE BOARD

Lachlan Dale
Company Secretary
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NOTES:

1. 	 Representatives and Alternates
	 Every Member which or who is the holder of an Ordinary Share in Baseball WA Limited must appoint one or 

more natural persons as its representative or representatives to exercise the powers of that Member. Where 
more than one representative has been so appointed, only one of them may exercise the powers of that 
Member at any one time.

2. 	 Proxies and Representatives’ Appointments
	 Any instrument appointing a proxy or representative is to be treated as valid if the instrument and any power 

of attorney or other authority under which it is signed is or are either:
	 (a)	 deposited at Baseball WA’s registered office (Baseball Park, Cnr Nicholson and Wilfred Roads, 

Thornlie, 6108) at least 48 hours before the scheduled time for the commencement of the relevant 
meeting; or

	 (b)	 presented to the chairman of the meeting as soon as practicable after the commencement of that 
meeting and, in any event, before the relevant vote is taken

3. 	 Quorum
	 A quorum for a general meeting is 20% or more of Members present in person, by representative or by proxy..

4. 	 Election of Directors
	 There are two vacant positions on the board and will need to be ratified in accordance with section 201E(2)(b) 

of the Corporations Law as directors of the company in accordance with Rule 8 of the company’s Constitution 
for a period of two years as from the conclusion of the meeting. Where the number of nominations is less than 
the number of declared vacancies, no election is required.

	 Vacant Director Positions
	 1. 	 Vacant
	 2. 	 Vacant
	 3. 	 Vacant

5. 	 Life Membership
	 The Baseball WA board will present 1 nomination for Life Membership for the 2019 AGM.

6. 	 Appointment of Auditor
	 The Chief Executive Officer recommends the appointment of David Craig to continue as Auditor.

7. 	 General Business
	 If shareholders would like to add items to General Business, items must be sent to ceo@baseballwa.asn.au 

by close of business Tuesday 1st December 2020 to be reviewed and may be added to the agenda.
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Baseball WA Ltd
ANNUAL GENERAL MEETING

Comfort Inn and Suites – Osprey Room – 195 Adelaide Terrace, Perth, WA, 6004
Tuesday 28th January 2020

1.0	 ATTENDANCE AND APOLOGIES
	 Board Members:	 Mark Beyer (Acting Chairman), Michael Andruszkiw, Gary Arnell, Susan Butler, 
				    Marie Malaxos, Carolyne Gatward
	 Staff Members:	 Lachlan Dale, Bryce Gomes, Lance MacKichan (LLWA)
	 Visitors: 		  N/A
	 Share Holders:	 Bill Sinclair, John Cummings, Justin Hoen, Kevin House, Annaliese Arndt, 
				    Andrew Murray, Trevor Dawson, David Gripper, Jes Fitzgerald, Jason De Wind, Sue Reid 
				    - Quorum achieved
	 Apologies:		  Shane Tonkin, Marie Malaxos, Stuart Scott, Adam Tilley

	 MEETING OPENED: 7.08pm

1.0	 WELCOME ADDRESS
	 Mark Beyer was confirmed as chair for the meeting. Mr Beyer introduced the Board and Lachlan Dale, CEO  

of Baseball WA.

2.0	 MINUTES OF PREVIOUS MEETING
	 That the minutes of the general meeting held on 25/09/2018 be accepted 
	 Moved by: 	 Mark Beyer
	 Seconded by: 	Kevin House
	 Decision: 	 Resolution carried 

3.0	 PRESENTATIONS
	 Alana Walker was unable to attend the meeting. No presentation tabled.
	 Mr Dale tabled his CEO Report to the meeting. Overview of Baseball WA followed.
	 It was requested to forward a state of play from 17/18 tabled at last year’s AGM to members as it was not 
	 circulated last year. It was agreed that this will be actioned by Mr Dale.

4.0	 ORDINARY BUSINESS
	 4.1	 Chairman’s Report tabled by Mark Beyer
		  Document tabled:	 Chairman’s Report
		  Presented by: 	 Mark Beyer
		  Seconded by: 	 Annaliese Arndt
		  Decision: 	 Resolution carried
	 4.2	 Financial Statements.
	 	 Mr Beyer stated that there were no audited accounts available now. Due to the development of 

the Ball Park several evaluations are still being conducted to revalue the assets. Key elements don’t 
change, but the Balance Sheet hasn’t been audited, very close to being completed and will distribute 
for approval outside the AGM. 

	 	 It was agreed to circulate detailed Profit and Loss for 17/18 and 19/20 when available, outside the 
Balance Sheet. To be actioned by Mr Dale.	
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5.0	 BASEBALL WA LIFE MEMBERSHIP
	 Proposed resolution:
	 The Baseball WA board will present 1 nomination for Life Membership for the 2019 AGM - Daryl Moyle.
	 Moved by: 	 Mark Beyer
	 Seconded by:	 Annaliese Arndt
	 Decision: 	 Resolution carried

6.0	 ELECTION OF DIRECTORS
	 Nominations:
	 The chair advised that nominations in writing were received prior to the meeting for the following people:
		  • Jason Hewitt
		  • Rod Bacon
	 Result
	 An election was held by a show of hands. The following people were elected as directors:
		  • Jason Hewitt
		  • Rod Bacon

7.0	 APPOINTMENT OF THE AUDITOR
	 Proposed resolution:
	 That David Craig be appointed as auditor for the year ended 30 June 2020.
	 Moved by:	 Mark Beyer
	 Seconded by:	 Kevin House
	 Decision:	 carried

The meeting was declared closed at 19.35pm.



Baseball WA	 page 8

BASEBALL WA formally acknowledges it’s Life Members. 
Our heartfelt appreciation is extended to all.

BASEBALL WA formally acknowledges it’s Meritorous 
Awards and Outstanding Achievement Awards. Our 
heartfelt appreciation is extended to each.

MERITOROUS AWARD

1984-85	 Jack Cody	 Perth
1986-87	 Margaret Carter	 Fremantle
1988-89	 Kevan Langdon	 West Stirling
1993-94	 Eric Knight	 Victoria Park
1997-98	 Maurie Reynolds	 Umpire

1947	 Glen H. Dunstan OBE *
1951	 W.H. (Bill) Hosken *
1953	 Les F.  Matthews *
1955	 H.V. (Vic) Barrett *
1957	 H.J. (Bert) Kortlang *
1958	 Thomas G. Nisbet *
1959	 Merv G. Muggleton *
1960	 Rob M. Gordon *
1963	 R.J. (Snow) McFarlane *
1964	 Les R. Brain *
1965	 Harry Duncan *
1967	 R.D. (Bill) Arrowsmith
1970	 Neville J. Pratt OAM
1971	 Max Heron
1972	 Alf Leutchford
1973	 Peter Solomon
1974	 Don Callanan *
1974	 Neville Laird *
1977	 Doug Corker
1978	 Kevin Parry AO *
1979	 Rodney P. Byrne OAM *
1980	 Mrs Norma Goodridge *
1981	 Dennis Osborn
1982	 Alf Dyer *
1983	 Mrs Kath Dyer
1984	 Mrs Evelyn Harvey
1985	 John Cole

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

1986	 Eric Knight *
1988	 Mrs Jan Thurley
1988	 Don Rodger
1989	 Mrs Rose Corker *
1990	 Ian Ross
1992	 John Radalj
1993	 Michael (Mick) Mount
1995	 Mrs Ursula Wade
1996	 Alan Luscombe
1997	 Graham H. Johnson
1998	 Mrs Athalia Munro
2010	 Mark Pettit
2013	 Mrs Patricia Williamson
2015	 William (Spider) Sinclair
2018	 Mark Richardson
2019	 Darryl Moyle

*    Deceased

All of these people were recognised as Life 
Members, in the stated year, by any of the 
former organisations of, the West Australian 
Baseball League (Inc), the West Australian Junior 
Baseball League (Inc), the Baseball Development 
Foundation (Inc). Those Life Members are now 
recognised as Life Members of Baseball WA Ltd.

OUTSTANDING ACHIEVEMENT AWARD

1981-82	 Ian Butcher	 Fremantle State League
1982-83 	 Brian Davis	 Fremantle “A” Reserve
1983-84	 Harry Duncan	 Long Service Award
1984-85	 Don Knapp	 Playing/Admin. Award
1987-88	 Tony Adamson	 Playing Award
1988-89	 Greg Harvey	 Playing Award
1988-89	 Corey Loehr	 Playing Award
1996-97	 Shane Tonkin	 Playing Award
2008-09	 Ken McGee	 Pitching 22 inning game
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BASEBALL WA acknowledges the sad passing of members of the baseball family. 
Our sincere condolenscences to their families.

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
OBITUARIES

Alan LUSCOMBE
29th March 2019

Former President of the WA 
Baseball Umpires Association 
and Claxton Shield Umpire, 
former President of the West 
Australian Baseball League for 
many years.

Dorothy SHAW
11th April 2019

Wife of Bill Shaw who was 
a State Junior Team Coach, 
Claxton Shield team member 
and Victoria Park outstanding 
player for many years.

Irene STILES
12th August2019

Wife of Arthur Stiles who was 
the 1936 Scorer for the Victoria 
Park Club in the beginning 
of baseball in this state and 
the family is involved with the 
Grand Cinemas.

Frank SMALPAGE
2nd September 2019.

Long time player and volun–
teer of Victoria Park Club and 
Life Member. State League 
player over many years.

Betty Merle BEAL
5th November 2019

Wife of Claxton Shield player of 
Jack Beal.

Gary MICKLE
20th July 2020

Son of WA Baseball League 
Patron and founder of the 
Victoria Park Baseball Club. 
Gary was an Australian Rugby 
player of distinction.

Ian THOMPSON
23rd July 2020

West Stirling player and 
Claxton Shield representa-tive, 
also a notable State Cricketer.

Duane ROCHFORD
20th August 2020

State League player and pitcher 
for the Gosnells baseball club, 
and a seven time State team 
representative.

Geoff FORSAITH
September 2020

University Club player and a 
member of the 1952 WA winning 
Claxton Shield team. Geoff was 
a cricketer of some note.

Jacinda BARCLAY
12th October 2020

WA and Australian Baseballer 
– representing Australia in 
five World Cup tournaments 
with distinction – notable in 
Australian women’s football 
and in football in the USA.

Evert HOEN
21st January 2020

Evert was a great baseball 
person, past President, club­
man and volunteer of the sport. 
Father of Justin.

Ron JARVIS
2nd December 2019

Father of several baseball 
playing sons of great note and 
daughter who played state 
softball. The entire family was 
notably involved with both 
sports at the highest level for 
many years.

Roy WATSON
10th April 2020

Fremantle player of great 
note, four times representing 
the State in Claxton Shield 
teams and was inducted into 
the Fremantle Braves Hall of 
Champions.

Melville (Mel) MOYLE
17th May 2020

Perth Club baseball family 
member, played country week 
baseball for Bunbury in the 
1950’s

Ron SKEGGS
25th May 2020

South Perth Club league player.

Desmond WARD
9th July 2020

Swan Districts club stalwart, 
played in 6 Claxton Shield 
teams with distinction.
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VALE ROY WATSON
20th April 2020

Baseball WA is saddened to hear of the passing 
of Roy Watson, a former Claxton Shield 
representative and inaugural inductee of the 
Braves Legends Club. 

Roy was much-loved by the Braves and he was 
inducted as a club legend in 2013. He spent 
many years playing baseball with the Braves, 
and he was a talented sportsman in both 
baseball and cricket.

Roy was playing cricket in Fremantle when he 
was introduced to baseball, and it wasn’t long 
before he was a standout second baseman. 
He became the first state baseball player to be 
selected from Braves Baseball Club in 1954. 
He went on to win Braves batting awards in the 
1958/59 and 1959/60 seasons, and he was a 
member of the Claxton Shield in 1954, 1955, 
1957 and 1960.

One of the highlights of Roy’s career was his 
outstanding 1957 Claxton Shield series, where 
he impressed in the field and at the plate. 
He collected six hits and five walks in two 
games against Victoria and NSW, and at the 
conclusion of the carnival he was selected to 
the All-Australian side as a second baseman. 
This marked the first time a Braves player won 
Australian selection. 

Roy was a passionate sportsman who was one 
of only four players selected to represent WA 
in both cricket and baseball before 1960. He 
encouraged others to make the most of their 
time on the field and was a highly respected 
member of the baseball community.

We offer our condolences to the Watson family 
during this difficult time.

VALE JACINDA BARCLAY
14th October 2020

A standout Australian sportswoman, Jacinda grew 
up playing junior baseball in WA and made her 
state debut for Western Australia at the age of 15 
at the 2006 National Championships.

She went on to play for the Australian Emeralds 
in five Women's Baseball World Cups, winning a 
silver medal at the 2010 World Cup in Venezuela. 
She also played professional football for the 
Chicago Bliss in the Legends Football League 
and Greater Western Sydney in the AFL Women's 
competition.

Our thoughts are with the Barclay family and all 
those who knew this amazing athlete and inspiring 
teammate.



area. A sub-committee was established during the 
year to review issues and explore opportunities, 
such as promotion and relegation, and changes to 
mandatory grades. Its early days in this process 
and the board is keen to ensure all options are 
canvassed. 

COVID-19 meant that finals could not be held in 
most grades. COVID also disrupted our winter 
programs and some elite development activities. 
While this was disappointing for many players and 
fans, the health situation left the board with no 
choice.

The Baseball WA Heritage Committee achieved 
notable progress during the year. The Heritage 
Committee’s goals include increasing awareness 
of the history of baseball in WA, and ensuring 
high achievers are duly recognised through Life 
membership or Hall of Fame membership. The 
committee also seeks to ensure the history of 
baseball is properly recorded.

 As a not-for-profit community sporting association, 
Baseball WA’s goal is to ensure we have sufficient 
funds to sustainably deliver our programs. In sup
port of this goal, we recorded a healthy surplus 
for the past year. This was distorted somewhat 
by the large inflows and outflows for the ballpark 
development. The board has continued to focus 
on careful budgeting and financial management. 
We received continued financial support from 
Healthway and the Department of Local Govern
ment, Sport and Cultural Industries, which we 
greatly appreciate. We are well placed financially 
for the future. 

Two new members joined the board during the 
year. Jason Hewitt and Rod Bacon have brought 
extensive experience of baseball in WA. Their deep 
knowledge has complemented the contributions of 
other board members. We also farewelled Susan 
Butler.

Finally, I wish to thank all board members, our 
chief executive Lachlan Dale and all of the hard-
working volunteers for their contribution to baseball 
in Western Australia.  

Mark Beyer
Chairman, Board of Directors
Baseball WA
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When I look back at the past year, I see 
considerabl achievement while also 

acknowledging the disruption caused by 
COVID-19.

The board continued to focus during the year on 
the five pillars of our strategic plan – participation, 
high performance, club health, facilities and profile.

It was pleasing to see progress on the $6 million 
upgrade of Baseball Park in Canning Vale. This 
has been a major undertaking and occupied a 
lot of time for board members and management. 
Baseball fans were able to enjoy greatly improved 
facilities in the 2019-20 season and further 
work has been undertaken since then. Baseball 
WA obtained a commitment to additional state 
government funding in mid-2020 which will allow 
us to make the ballpark even better.

It was also pleasing to see increased participation 
during the 2019-20 season, with extra teams in 
both the senior and junior competitions. Improving 
participation pathways and opportunities is one of 
BWA’s main areas of strategic focus. This includes 
working with Teeball WA, schools and other 
organisations to generate grassroots interest and 
transition young players into baseball.

Reform of senior competitions is another focus 

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
CHAIRMAN'S REVIEW
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First of all, I would like to give special Thanks 
to the Clubs, Volunteers, Supporters and 

committee’s within Baseball WA. Without the time, 
passion and dedication from you, the game we all 
love, would not be as successful as it is.

I would also like to thank the staff who work 
tirelessly on providing support and guidance to 
clubs and members throughout the year. Most of 
their work is behind the scenes when nobody is 
around with the main objective of delivering better 
outcomes for the baseball community. 

I also want to thank the Board of Baseball WA 
for their leadership of our game. With two new 
members covering a wide skill set, they will 
continue to plan for the future and guide new 
initiatives to ensure WA is progressive and leading 
the country in its delivery. 

I’d also like to thank the Perth Heat. To Rory, 
Christian and Michael, thank you for seeing what 
we’ve seen for years, Baseball is the greatest sport 
in the world and with your support, investment, 
guidance and leadership we are looking forward 
to seeing it back to its rightful place in the WA 
Sporting Landscape. 

Since the last Baseball WA Annual Report, I want 
to take some time to mention some of WA’s key 
highlights. 

At the turn of the new year, we saw both WA 
Under 16’s and 18’s compete at the National 
Championships held in Geelong, Victoria. With 
the Under 16’s taking home 4th, the Under 
18’s won the championship in a thrilling 11-9 
win over Queensland to bring the title home 
to WA. Unfortunately the Women’s and Youth 
Championships were cancelld due to Covid-19.

Like the rest of the world, Baseball WA was 
unfortunately affected by the global pandemic of 
Covid-19 which saw the immediate cancellation 
of sporting competitions around the State of WA 
in March, meaning we were unable to host the 
Grand Finals and pinnacle of our club season. We 
understand the disappointment of our members 
missing out of the final game of the season and 
hope that the decision can be accepted as we all did 
our part to minimize the spread of the coronavirus. 
We look forward to the future season and we’re 
sure with a new perspective on life our clubs and 
members will enjoy a summer of Baseball.

Subsequently, Covid-19 also meant a postponing 
of the Charter State Championships, normally 
slated for the Easter weekend. Machine Pitch, 
Development Shield, Little League, Intermediate 
League and Senior League were all affected and 
fortunately we were able to re-schedule these 
tournaments in the July 2020 school holidays. A 
reduced schedule due to restrictions meant 27 
teams instead of the normal 40 plus competed 
for the title of State Champions. Congratulations 
to the winners in Little League Majors – Eastern 
Phantoms, Intermediate League – Western Suns 
(Eastern Phantoms/Swans Hills), Junior League – 
Northern Metros, Senior League – Wester Meteors 
(Central Firebirds/Southern Hills Warriors). 
Well done to the players and also to Morley 
Eagles Baseball Club who under tremendous 
circumstances hosted a terrific event with strong 
support from Perth and Wembley Baseball Clubs.

As part of drive for elite athlete performance and 
coaching we have continued developments of our 
elite programs with input from Team Australia, MLB 
clubs, WAIS and the Perth Heat. WA’s relationship 
with the Tampa Bay Rays reaches beyond just the 
prospect players they send, we will be working 

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
CEO AND COMPETITIONS
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closely with them on sports science, baseball 
technology, coach development and player 
management systems to ensure our local players 
lead the Perth Heat both on and off the field. 
The by-product of this program will be athletes 
in collegiate, professional, national and State 
League programs. In 2020 we also launched our 
Futures Lite program aimed at 12-15 yo athletes to 
establish some fundamentals of high performance 
focusing on the core attirbutes of an elite athlete 
both on and off the field.

In November, our National Men’s team came under 
manager David Nillson to compete at the Premier 
12. WA Players Tim Kennelly, Robbie Glendinning 
and Daniel Schmidt (debut) played a huge part in 
the success winning through to the Super Round 
and beating the title favourites USA 3-1.

It is not just on the field that we are achieving 
success, off the field WA has seen some ground-
breaking developments as well. Over the past 
5 years, 90% of clubs have invested in capital 
upgrades at their home grounds, whether that 
be back nets, batting cages, dugouts or club 
houses we are seeing facilities improve. This all 
supports the opportunity to increase the game 
day environment to ensure our clubs are full 
with members and spectators enjoying the best 
atmosphere possible.

As many are aware, siteworks at Baseball Park 
have continued into the new season with practical 
completion and handover in October 2019. 
This has been the largest capital investment to 
baseball in this state for 30 years. I’m sure all fans 
can attest that the new grandstand, corporate and 
function areas, seats, changerooms, car park, 

ticket gate, family areas and concessions are 
a fantastic addition to the Ballpark which is now 
the best in the country and will attract national 
and international baseball events. Additionally, 
we have secured Tom Bateman House which 
connects to the Ballpark and will serve as the new 
Baseball WA Administration Office in 2021

I would like to formally recognise the State Govern
ment’s significant contribution towards these 
initial upgrades and the Federal Governments 
investment was we move into our final stage on 
the build. A special thank you Ken Wyatt for his 
ongoing support

Furthermore, I’d like to thank our major commercial 
partners, Department of Local Government, Sport 
and Cultural Industries, Healthway and its Think 
Again message, Perth Harley-Davidson, City of 
Gosnells, Fielders Choice, Nexus Risk Services 
and the Perth Heat. 

On a final note, thank you to everyone in the 
baseball community for their time, effort and 
passion for the game especially in the most difficult 
times that participation sport around the country 
has faced. As an organisation, we continue to set 
high expectations to grow the game in WA and with 
passionate people not only at clubs but the wider 
baseball community, WA will continue to shine and 
be the benchmark in Australia.

As I hope you are, we’re looking forward to the 
new success that we all achieve together in the 
2020 / 2021 season and beyond.

Yours Sincerely

Lachlan Dale
CEO, Baseball WA
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Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
LIFE MEMBERSHIP

NEW LIFE MEMBER
Baseball WA is pleased to announce that 
Darryl MOYLE has been awarded Life 
Membership following the Baseball WA 
Annual General Meeting.

The AGM was held on Tuesday, 28 January 
2020, when Moyle’s nomination for life 
membership was unanimously accepted by 
shareholders and the board of directors.

Life Membership is an honour bestowed 
on members of the baseball community 
who have dedicated years of service to the 
growth and advancement of baseball in 
Western Australia.

Moyle’s decades of involvement in the 
sport have been a massive difference to 
the baseball community, and Baseball WA 
looks forward to presenting him with his 
Life Membership Medal at the Baseball WA 
Awards Night on 31 March 2020.
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WA MASTER’S LEAGUE

Cubs had a better year, and played finals for the 
first time in several season.

Thanks go to Rod Drew for the preparation of the 
ground. The best its been for many seasons.

Semi Finals were played:
Eagles defeated Cubs	   7 - 0
Reds defeated Bears	 20 - 0

Top teams Eagles and Reds played off in another 
competitive Grand Final, with the Eagles scoring 4 
runs early and then closed the shutters.

Congratulations to players selected in the All Sta 
Team

Congratulations to Luke Hulbert (Eagles) - MVP 
(again).

We hope for another successful season in 2021.

Yours in baseball.
Keith Kennedy President

From Masters' AGM
Thank you extended to Umpires who volunteered 
their time and expertise. The Umpires Assocation 
with Mike Sherwood taking over the co-ordinating 
role. Well done and a big thanks to these people 
for a job well done. Numbers of teams and players 
were stable and apart from 1 or 2 rainy nights the 
season went as planned.

Due to ground development, the start of the 
season was delayed by two weeks commencing 
on Monday 28th October.

Some new faces involved with Masters this 
season, Thalia Monro - long-time baseball stalwart 
- took over the scorers job and is looking after the 
secretariat duties for this year.

Another competitive season with a few upsets. 
The weather was good to us and all games were 
played as fixtured.
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Pre-season training was again predominantly 
conducted at Perth Modern School. These 

facilities are perfect for our training programs and 
my thanks go again to Chris Rapley for making 
the venue possible and for his great assistance 
in running the program. Our regular Rules & 
Mechanics nights were again conducted at 
Balcatta Baseball Club and were extremely well 
supported by our members.

We had a great influx of new junior umpires this 
year; most of them will be umpiring junior games 
within their own clubs but we really hope to see 
many of them umpiring in our senior ranks in the 
near future. We also had a few new senior umpires 
join our ranks and they performed really well in 
their 1st year. Look forward to bigger and better 
things next season.

While there is never enough time to work on all 
the different areas of umpiring, we continue to 
concentrate on the strike zone and gaining as 
much consistency as possible across each umpire. 
We all know that every umpire has a slightly 
different perception of the zone but consistency 
across the whole game is really important. Brett 
Robson, Chris Rapley, Peter Bowie and I spend a 
lot of time at pre-season training with consistency 
in mind. I would also like to acknowledge and 
thank Simon and Calvin Eissens, and Adam and 
Dan Stephenson for their work during the training 
sessions.

We have also placed a significant amount of time 
into game management. This is an area which 
is critical to the running of every game. Strong, 
assertive management by the umpire will nearly 
always allow the game to be played fairly by both 
teams and in the best sporting spirit. The whole 
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season saw only 2 really serious incidents which 
needed a lot of work from the P&D Tribunal and 
I would also like to thank all of the people who 
assisted at this time.

Our association was represented at the National 
U16 and U18 championships by Lance Mackichan 
and Mike Sherwood. We were also fortunate 
to have Ryan Harder serving as the umpire 
co-ordinator at these championships. Ryan’s 
feedback on the efforts of Lance and Mike was 
very encouraging.

A special mention is also made of the commitment 
to women’s baseball by Fiona Lambrick and Ross 
Drinkwater. I am sure that the administrators of 
women’s baseball appreciate the time and effort 
from Fiona and Ross.

For the first time in many years our association 
had agreed to have a large representation at the 
BWA league dinner and at that time also have the 
trophy presented to our Umpire of the Year. We 
all know that due to the ongoing health crisis the 
dinner did not proceed. I am very happy though to 
announce that the winner of the award this year is 
Ryan Harder. Ryan has again shown that during 
the BWA season and the ABL season he is our 
best umpire. 

Finally, I would also like to thank the Perth HEAT 
organisation for offering to sponsor a trophy 
for our association, which is to be presented to 
the Junior Umpire of the Year. Not only do we 
gratefully accept the offer but also announce that 
the inaugural winner is Ryan Eastwood; a really 
worthy winner on all accounts.

David Gripper
Umpires Advisor
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WOW what a year – everything from a new 
website, new scoring app, newsletters, 

scorebooks upgrades and COVID 19 to boot.

Our season started the week after the AGM with 
our first meeting and with having some new faces 
on the committee we hit the floor running straight 
away. Big thank you to all committee members for 
their commitment this season and being open to 
some great opportunities.

Job number one was to get a new website built 
independently to Baseball WA. As most people in 
the baseball community know we have changed 
three or four websites in the last ten years. With 
the amount of data and content that is on our page 
we decided the best way to ensure the integrity 
and longevity of our data was to move to our own 
site that will be with us for years to come. The new 
website is www.wabaseballscorers.com.au if 
you have not visited it yet please make time to 
check it out.

It was great to see Sue Reid come back onto our 
committee this year. She made an immediate 
impact by restarting our newsletters which I am 
sure that everyone loved to read. Welcome back 
Suzie!

Having new members on the committee brings 
new ideas. This year we added to the little league 
scorebook to incorporate some pitching stats 
that are required to submit the little league game 
report. I have heard nothing but positive remarks 
about this change and we look forward to hearing 
more ideas in the coming years, keep up the great 
work ladies.

This year we had the opportunity to be part of a 
pilot programme with the WBSC to run the MY 
BALL CLUB app for scoring. We were able to work 
with Michael, the developer of the app, who took 
into account our suggestions to adapt the app 
to work smoothly and be user friendly. We took 
this opportunity to State League 1 this year and 
with most clubs being receptive to having online 
scoring it was great to see it working for us all. 
The number of hits on our website attest, that the 
public are loving the ability to check other games 
while they are live, especially on the run into the 
finals.

Whilst implementing the above changes we still 
maintained our outstanding presence at what 
we do best which is Clinics and getting current 
information to everyone. Big shout out to clubs 

LIFE MEMBERS
WABSSA acknowledges the significant 

contributions the following Life Members 
have made to this Association.  

Rose Corker*  1994
Kath Dyer  1998

Patricia Williamson  1999
Betty Lawson  2000
Rae Coleman*  2006
Natalie Todd  2014

June Anderson  2016

* Deceased

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
SCORERS AND STATISTICIANS

PICTURED LEFT:  

The view from the 
Scorers Box at 
the Perth Harley 
Davidson Ball 
Park in Thormlie.
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that took us up on the offer to do clinics at their 
venues, this seems to get the most numbers and 
the support from clubs showing that they are 
supporting the scorers is great to see.

We held in conjunction with clubs 12 Clinics and at 
these clinics we had a participation number of 220. 
This is the highest participant levels I have ever 
seen since I started on the committee.

As you can see by these numbers alone we are 
doing our job and are getting to as many people 
as we can. This year also saw some of the longer 
standing members of our committee take on one 
on one tutoring with Statistics, big shout out to 
these ladies for taking the time and helping make 
this work.

Exam time this year was so crazy we actually had 
to book a venue to hold exams as the number of 
scorers wanting to sit their level was higher than 
usual which shows the clinics to be effective. A Big 
thank you to Wanneroo Giants for host multiple 
clinics and exams for us (thanks Deb).

We also had the Perth Heat schedule to fit in which 
was managed really well by our scoring panel, 
thank you everyone for all your support during the 
Heat season and also for all the laughs.

The season did not end the way we all wanted with 
Covid-19 and Baseball WA having to cancel Grand 
finals. I feel for all the players, but also very grateful 

that everyone is safe and healthy, and now able to 
prepare for the coming season. Big shout out to 
Annaliese as a new committee member taking on 
the role of ensuring all final games had an official 
scorer assigned to them, thank you!

I want to say that without the tireless work of our 
committee we would not be able to achieve most 
of what you have read in the report, to all the 
worker bees on the committee (you know who you 
are) thank you from the bottom of my heart as all 
the small things make us the best association that 
we can be, love your work everyone.

In closing, the association is growing in leaps and 
bounds, many hands make light work and I look 
forward to seeing what the future holds.

Best Regards

Natalie Todd
President



DEVELOPMENT 
Tim Kennelly

Hi all,

The last 12 months have seen me undertake a 
number of roles with different programs within the 
state for all ages.

Pro League was in its second year and was another 
success. Pro League is a winter program for 15-19 

year olds looking to continue to develop their skills, 
strength and conditioning and play more games 
during the off-season. Being a winter program we 
had to deal with the weather on the odd occasion 
but overall it was a success with Eric Grabe’s 
Ravens taking out the title. We had 4 teams with 
number of kids popping up on the radar with a few 
being added to the Futures program as a result. 
We are hoping to be able to continue this program 
about come term 3 in July. 

A machine pitch program (MP70) was added this 
year which was a big success with nearly 100 kids 
participating over a four day school holiday camp. 
Being coached by some Perth Heat players and 
imports the kids really got a lot out of the program. 
Especially those in tball looking to make the 
transition into Baseball. It was a lot of fun and the 
kids really enjoyed being coached by some of their 
idols in the middle of the ABL season. 

Regional programs – there were numerous 
Regional programs put together which saw us send 
some of our local Perth Heat players and local 
imports out to the regions to showcase baseball. 
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We sent Sam Kennelly and Jess Williams up north 
for the North West Tball championships where 
they also showcased the MP70. Collectively they 
visited Port Hedland, Newman, Paraburdoo, Tom 
Price, Karratha and Wickham. We also sent 2 
guys to Newman and Hedland for 4 days each to 
coach the kids and coaches in helping increase 
the participation and interest in those towns. I also 
visited Busselton during their Registration and Have 
a go day as well to try spike some more interest 
down in the south-west. We had many regional kids 

ready to come down and participate in the Tiger 
Academy from those towns as well as Kalgoorlie 
and Geraldton. 

Unfortunately Tiger Academy was postponed due 
to COVID-19 but we’re hoping things can get back 
to normality sooner rather than later so we can 
continue to put together these programs. 

Thanks,
Kind regards,
Tim Kennelly 
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PARTICIPATION PROGRAMS REPORT

This new area of Baseball WA commenced with my 
appointment on 1 January this year having completed 
my term as Little League District Administrator.

The purpose of the department is to develop programs 
aimed at growth in the following key areas:

n   Tee-ball

n   Transition into Little League

n   Female participation

n   Regional participation

n   Rate of retention & sport profile

n   School competition

Through the first six months of operation, these key 
areas can be summarised as follows:

PARTICIPATION PROGRAMS 
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Programs will continue to be planned 
and developed and reported back at 
club delegates meetings. Planning 
will continue to be adapted to fall 
in line with national programs as 
needed and tailored to meet the 
needs of our clubs. The ultimate 
objective is to drive membership into 
our clubs and retain them there.

David Hayes 
Participation Programs Manager
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PRO-LEAGUE
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PONY GIRLS FUTURES 
PROGRAM BRINGS JUNIOR 

GIRLS TOGETHER ON THE FIELD

The 2020 Pony Girls Futures Program is 
off to a terrific start, with 49 girls ages 10-

14 participating in the eight-week development 
season.

Formerly known as the Youth Girls Development 
Program, Pony Girls Futures gives junior players 
the chance to grow and develop on and off the 
field as they learn more about the sport and their 
athletic abilities. In this all-girls environment, 
game scores are not kept, so coaches can 
introduce players to different positions and give 
them the chance to try pitching, catching and 
fielding.

Players are split into four teams, train once a 
week and play games on Sunday afternoons, 
following the Spring Training sessions to start the 
season at the Baseball Park. They are led by four 
capable coaches: Conor Lourey, Andrew Cooke, 
Andy McDonough and Mel Edgar.

“We are pleased to have a great group of girls 
for the Futures program and it’s awesome to 
see their progress and how much fun they are 
having on the field," Baseball WA Participation 
Program Manager David Hayes said. "We look 
forward to the rest of the year and encouraging 
these awesome athletes to keep working hard at 
their goals.”



ATHLETICS' CLOSER LIAM 
HENDRIKS WINS AL RELIEVER 

OF THE YEAR AWARD
Liam Hendriks, who has gone from the designated 
for assignment list to being the stalwart of the 
Oakland bullpen in the last two years, was named 
the 2020 Mariano Rivera American League 
Reliever of the Year Saturday.

In a season shortened to 60 games by the 
COVID=19 pandemic, Hendriks converted 14 of 
his 15 save opportunities for the A’s. He blew a 
save on opening night, but the A’s came back to 
win the game on Matt Olson’s grand slam in extra 
innings against the Angels.

From that point on, Hendricks was a perfect 14-
for-14 in saves, finishing second in the Major 
Leagues in saves, thanks in large part to a 1.78 
ERA.
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“Honored is an understatement,” Hendriks said in 
a statement released by Major League Baseball. 
““It’s humbling to win an award that bears the 
name of the greatest closer in history.

“I’m extremely thankful to my teammates. If they 
weren’t behind me on the field, I wouldn’t be half 
the pitcher I am today. A huge thank you to the 
bullpen for sharing years of invaluable advice and 
experience with me. Thank you to the coaching 
staff and the entire organization for believing in 
me and giving me the opportunity to play in the 
green and gold.”

NOTE: Liam Johnson Hendriks, nicknamed 
"Slydah", is a Western Australian professional 
baseball pitcher who is a free agent. He has 
played in Major League Baseball for the 
Minnesota Twins, Kansas City Royals, Toronto 
Blue Jays and Oakland Athletics. Wikipedia
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BWA HERITAGE COMMITTEE

2020 has been an extremely rewarding and 
engaging year for the Heritage Committee with 
the completion of several significant events in 
spite of the COVID pandemic.

COMMITTEE MEMBERS
Mark Beyer (Chair)
Lachlan Dale (CEO BWA)
Don Knapp
Bob Ossey
Simon Eiseens
Brett Robson (resigned)
Mike Burgermeister (resigned)
Paul Tye
Doug Corker (Guest)

PURPOSES OF THE HERITAGE COMMITTEE
••	 Research, discuss and recommend candidates 

to the BWA Board as nominees for induction 
into the Australian Baseball Hall of Fame 
(HOF). The HC and the Board must follow the 
guidelines as set down by Baseball Australia.

••	 Research, discuss and recommend candidates 
to the BWA Board as nominees for Life 
Membership of Baseball WA (LM). The HC 
and the Board must follow the guidelines as 
set down by Baseball WA. 

••	 Research, promote, circulate, preserve and 
display the history of Baseball in Western 
Australia. 

BACKGROUND 
The BWA Heritage Committee was formed in 
February 2018 to address the purposes as outlined 
above. The Committee meets on a quarterly basis 
(four times a year) and has an established Terms 
of Reference. The Chair of Baseball WA (BWA) 
is also the Chair of the Heritage Committee so 
that the reporting structure o the BWA Board is 
ongoing.

ACHIEVEMENTS 

1.  Nomination to the Australian Baseball Hall 
of Fame
In 2019, South Perth, WA Claxton Shield, Perth 
Heat, 2000 Olympic representative and San Diego 
Padres pitcher, Mark Ettles was successfully 

PICTURED BELOW:  Hon Ken Wyatt with the Archi
vists at the official opening of the museum
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inducted into the Australian Baseball Hall of 
Fame to complement 14 other West Australians 
already inducted into the Hall of Fame.

In 2020, Neville Pratt was submitted as the WA 
nomination. Neville had a distinguished playing 
career with Nedlands Baseball Club, WA Claxton 
Shield and National teams and was a 1956 
Melbourne Olympic representative. He also had a 
distinguished administrative career in Australian 
and International baseball and was instrumental 
in positioning Australia on the international 
baseball landscape.

2. BWA Life membership
In October 2020, Mr Darryl Moyle was inducted as 
a Life member of Baseball WA during a ceremony 
at the Harley – Davidson Ballpark. Due to the 
COVID restrictions, the Annual BWA Awards 
Night was cancelled in March 2020 where the 
recipient would have been acknowledged in a 
formal occasion.

Mr Darryl Moyle joins an illustrious number 
of recipients who have been awarded Life 
Membership for their valuable contribution 
to the development of playing, coaching and 
administrative facets of baseball at the Club 
level, State and International level.

3. BWA Hall of Fame
During 2020, the Heritage Committee became 
aware of a gap that existed between BWA Life 
Membership and the Australian Hall of Fame. It 
was evident that there were a significant number 
of baseball players who had made valuable 
contributions at State League Club, State and 
International baseball who were not be able to 
fulfil the criteria for nomination to the Australian 
Hall of Fame.

In April 2020, a sub-committee, under the 
direction of Don Knapp, was formed to investigate 
the feasibility of introducing a Baseball WA 
Hall of Fame. In October 2020, the BWA Board 
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approved the Charter and Terms of Reference for 
State League to submit nominations by the end of 
November 2020. 

An Initial Selection Panel (ISP) is tasked with 
reviewing all the nominations and making 
recommendations for BWA Board approval. A 
formal induction ceremony will occur in February 
2021 to officially induct members into the BWA 
Hall of Fame. In the future, new members will be 
inducted on an annual basis.

Sub-Committee members:
Don Knapp (Chair)
Bob Ossey
Lachlan Dale
Verity Long-Droppert
Paul Morgan
Paul Tye
Simon Eissens

4. Museum & Archives Project

In 2018, BWA was cognisant that baseball 
volunteers were historically the collectors, 
compilers and custodians of community club 
records and that, with the aging and passing 
of many club stalwarts, the loss of records and 
other baseball artefacts of significance were 
disappearing to the wider baseball landscape.

In May 2018, the Heritage Committee agreed 
to be the ‘pilot organisation’ in conjunction with 
the Centre for Sport and Recreation Research at 
Curtin University, to undertake the development 
of ‘a guide’ in Collections Management to assist 
organisations in decision-making regarding ‘what 
do we have?’ and ‘what should we do with it?’.

Following the research findings, it was deter
mined that BWA should implement an archival 

program to ensure that baseball memorabilia 
was made available to the baseball community. 
In March 2020, a building was identified at the 
ballpark as suitable to house a small baseball 
museum.  

The BWAHC has approved several policies to 
ensure that strong governance of the project is 
maintained.

On completion of the renovation the museum and 
archive project was officially opened in October 
2020 by the Hon. Ken Wyatt, Federal Minister 
for Indigenous Affairs and now houses a solid 
collection of baseball memorabilia.

At the same time, six volunteers agreed to 
be part of an Archival Program to ensure that 
the memorabilia was correctly catalogued, 
digitised, displayed and stored. Currently, they 
volunteer their time once a week to ensure there 
is continuity with the project. They have been 
comprehensively involved in the development of 
the Museum and Archive Strategic Plan for the 
next 3 years.

Baseball WA is very appreciative to the number 
of information service providers in Perth who 
donated resources and equipment for the project. 
In addition, the project would not have proceeded 
without the generous financial support of the 
Richard Lockwood Charitable Foundation (UK).

Archival Training Program
Dr Pauline Joseph (Consultant)
Paul Tye (Project Coordinator)
Sue Underwood
Pam Booker
Gwen Ettles
Tony Goadby
Mel O’Hern
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2019-20 ABL Season Statistics
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Perth Heat
HEAT SEASON STATISTICS

NATIONAL BATTING
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NATIONAL PITCHING
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INDIVIDUAL STATS BATTING

INDIVIDUAL STATS PITCHING
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The 2019/20 ABL season was highlighted 
by the Alcohol. Think Again Perth Heat’s 

30th  anniversary. Founded in 1989, the 
club’s special milestone was celebrated with 
a redeveloped ballpark, funded through the 
Federal Governments $6,000,000 grant.   Perth 
Heat would like to acknowledge the wonderful 
contribution of the Federal Government and in 
particular the Honourable Ken Wyatt AM MP for 
making this project happen and congratulate 
Baseball WA CEO Lachlan Dale for seeing this 
vision through. Perth Heat are proud tenants of 
Perth Harley-Davidson ballpark and look forward 
to creating more special memories at the home of 
WA Baseball.

To celebrate Perth Heat’s rich and storied history, 
the club proudly returned to team’s original 
colours and jerseys. The white and black jerseys 
with a starburst of colours down the sleeve were 
an instant hit with players, fans and members as 
we honoured all past champions.

The Heat’s new apparel partner, The Garment 
Exchange must be congratulated for redesigning 
a number of iconic Perth Heat merchandise 
items. Seeing so many Heat fans in the stands 
wearing the Heat colours showed how strong 
and connected the clubs brand is to all West 
Australians.

Off the field, it was a record breaking season 
for Perth Heat, with club memberships soaring 
by 234% and attendances increasing by 19%. 
Perth Heat would like to thank all our members 
and fans for their loyal and passionate support. 
Without members and fans, we simply don’t have 
a club and the continued support we receive 
from all Western Australians is what makes our 
supporter base so special.

Our goal on the field was to win the club’s 
16th  Claxton Shield and the team unfortunately 
fell short, losing in the first round of the playoffs to 
Canberra. Thank you to manager Brooke Knight 
and his assistants Kevin Hooker, Andy Kyle and 
Tyler Anderson for their contributions and to all 
the players. As the ABL continues to attract more 
international players each summer, the core 
and sole of the team is united by an incredibly 
talented group of West Australians. Thank you 
to all our local players for your commitment and 
heart while representing Perth Heat. We would 
also like to acknowledge our affiliated partner in 

Perth Heat
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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the MLB, the Tampa Bay Rays for their ongoing 
support. It’s a partnership we are very proud 
to continue and develop and thank you to Mr 
George Pappas, Manager, Minor League and 
International Operations for visiting Perth this 
season.

On the global stage, Perth Heat was so proud 
to see former pitcher Liam Hendriks star in the 
MLB. Liam’s pathway to becoming an All-Star 
is truly an inspiring story for so many young, 
aspiring Baseballers. Congratulations Liam and 
thank you for attending our home game against 
the Giants and making yourself available to so 
many fans. In Asia, another former Heat pitcher 
Warwick Saupold also enjoyed his first season in 
the KBO with the Hanwha Eagles. Again, thank 
you to Warwick for supporting the Heat during his 
off-season, assisting our coaches and players.

To our Captain, Tim Kennelly, congratulations on 
playing your 300th ABL game, with all 300 games 
in a Perth Heat jersey. We are truly blessed to have 
such a wonderful and loyal leader, who sets the 
benchmark in consistency and excellence. Well 
done Tim, we look forward to more milestones 
and home runs with you.

Thank you to all our corporate partners and 
sponsors headed by our principle partner 
Healthway. We are very appreciative of the 
support and look forward to 2020/21.  Perth Heat 
has made some significant strides over the past 
12 months but there is more work to be done and 
we are excited by the path ahead..

Steven Nelkovski 
Chief Executive Officer 
Alcohol. Think Again Perth Heat
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The  2019-20 ABL season brought some 
amazing moments and some challenging 

hurdles as well, such is the case with any 
sporting season. While we fell short of our goal 
of winning an ABL Championship, we were right 
in the mix throughout the season, and were 
one pitch or one swing away from getting over 
the line. We lost a few heartbreaking games 
along the way, but I really liked our chances in a 
3-game playoff series with anyone, so when we 
were relegated to the Wild-Card game (by rule), it 
became anyone's race, and we didn't perform as 
well as we had hoped.

Our Captain, 'TK', showed once again why he 
is the leader for our Perth Heat ... and for Team 
Australia. He brings a balance and work ethic 
to the park like very few and is a true leader by 
example. When you have effort at the top from 
a guy like Tim, it makes everything else a little 
bit easier. This guy still runs out every ground 
ball, every fly ball, like it may be the last day he 
ever plays the game. He respects the game, and 
it shines in everything he does. We are lucky to 
have this man in our clubhouse and he is a rock 
in our lineup.

Robbie Glendinning had another great season for 
our club, and was a heavy consideration for the 
league MVP. His numbers were clearly indicative 

of a deserving recipient. He has a real aptitude 
to hit a baseball, plain and simple. Not only does 
he use the entire field well, but his approach at 
the plate is advanced, and he often puts his 'best 
swing on the best pitch' of the AB. He's obviously 
a key part of our growth, and a guy we want to 
build around going forward.

Dan Schmidt continued to deliver consistency for 
us out of the bullpen, and was often our go-to 
guy. He has the maturity to handle the pressure 
and fill up the zone, and proved that early. He had 
a bit of misfortune as at least one more game in 
Adelaide should have gone our way when Daniel 
threw strike three middle-middle, only to not be 
awarded the pitch. He's really developed on 
defending the running game and picked off the 
league's MVP at least twice. That's been a game-
changer for him, and for our club.

I was really proud of Josh Hendrickson this past 
season as well - he had some sincere personal 
growth and took it straight to the mound. While 
only having limited appearances with our club 
due to innings restrictions, he answered the call 
and showed an intensity and fire that dominated 
opposing bats in his latter appearances. We 
talked about his mindset, and he stepped up and 
showed what we felt he was capable of doing.  
His pro career is going to be fun to watch.

Perth Heat
HEAT MANAGER REPORT
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Alex Hall’s work ethic is really impressive. From 
an intent perspective, Alex does everything 
he can to prepare himself to be successful. He 
loves the gym, arrives early to the park, and is 
constantly focused on working at his craft. He 
continues to develop behind the plate and with 
continued work on the block and the receive, Alex 
could be a mainstay in the Heat's future.

Ulrich Bojarski delivered some big swings and 
can wow at times with some eye-popping 'man 
strength'. He's still working to use the other side 
of the field at the plate, and needs to continue to 
get reps defensively, but the bat can be down right 
scary at times. The ceiling is high for young Ulrich.

Jess Williams added so much to our clubhouse...
he has an amazing energy that lifts the spirits of 
those around him. He's a versatile player, and 
when he's seeing the ball well, he can really do 
some damage.  A guy who takes the extra time to 
say 'hello' & 'goodbye'...a guy who cares about 
his teammates (and they equally love him).  
With some added strength to his frame in this 
unprecedented 'off-season', Jess could position 
himself very well for his future.

Sam Kennelly gave us some much needed punch 
at the end of our lineup in the latter half of the 
season. Another team guy with a phenomenal 
attitude, I really believe Sam's bat can make him 
an everyday guy in the ABL As he continues to 
develop and work on his game defensively, Sam 
shows some sneaky pop that can change games.  

The most inspiring takeaway for me was the 
emergence of a few new names that could really 
provide a core nucleus in Perth in the years to 
come. A healthy Mitch Neunborn stormed onto 
the scene with some electric stuff on the mound.  
A low 90's fastball and two secondary pitches 
that already show real promise, Mitch is going to 
help our Heat, and potentially Team Australia, win 
baseball games.  He brings a great attitude to the 
park and is a team guy first, and I can't wait to see 
what he is going to do in Professional baseball.  
Josh Rawlinson got better and better every 
outing, and in hindsight, could have been utilized 
in a greater capacity. Mid-90s fastball over the 
top, a developing slider (OTT that changed his 
attack on LH bats), with the ability to drop down 
for a very different look, he was really tough on 
opposing bats at times.   If he can keep his stuff 
where it was at the end of the season, he's always 
going to be in the discussion for Team Australia.

Conor Lourey, Tom Bailey, & Nick Veale all 
provided some key innings for us. All three of these 
guys had some dominating moments, as they 
all love to compete. Conor was battling through 
some arm stuff, and fought hard to deliver for our 
club while he could.  It was really exciting to see 
Tom come back strong after a long-road, and it 
is obvious he really loves to pitch - he's fun to 
watch and prepares like a professional.  Nick can 
make hitters look foolish with his above-average 
change up and offered up some key innings for 
us. A healthy and performing Cameron Lamb is 
also a consideration for the future of the Heat.

Other rising stars that are going to be fun to watch 
are young Will Sheriff, Mitch Schofield, Jake 
Turnbull, Jake Bowey, Byron Armstrong, Jack 
Bowins, and Liam Collins. Although a couple of 
these guys may not have had all the opportunities 
they would have liked with the huge Rays 
contingent we had this past season, if they continue 
to stick with it, and work hard at their craft, there 
is no reason they can't be in the mix in the future.

We enjoyed a great relationship with the Rays and 
surely hope to continue to do so going forward.  
They sent us some really great people, and it was 
a joy to work with both the players and the coaches 
of the Rays organization.  Carlos Perez, Roberto 
Alvares, Audry Lugo, Blake Bivens, Jordan Qsar, 
Niko Hulsizer, Kaleo Johnson, Blake Butera, and 
Jose Gonzalez were committed to our cause.

I'd like to thank all of the import players that invested 
in the Perth Heat, and our 2019/2020 campaign. 
The Pitcher of the Year (Mr. Dylan Unsworth), 
John Anderson, Jorge Perez, Trevor Frank, 
Jonathan de Marte, Jackson Wark, & Pete Kozma.

And finally, to our Coaching Staff and our Support 
Staff...very grateful to Tyler Anderson, Kevin 
Hooker, and Andy Kyle as well for their support.  
Steve Nelkovski, who doesn't seem to ever sleep 
while being an outstanding communicator.  Lachlan 
Dale, who has an advanced understanding of 
Baseball Operations, and is always supportive, 
even when things aren't going as scripted. To 
Dea Saupold, Josh Kennelly, John Ogilvie, Carol 
Williams, and Erin Diamond...your efforts are 
greatly appreciated and we simply can't do what 
we do without your unwavering support. Thank 
YOU for working so hard on our road trips and in 
our clubhouse!

Respectfully,

Brooke Knight
Field Manager, Perth Heat Baseball Club.
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WA State HEAT Under 16s
2019 National Championship

Coaches Report

The under 16’s team under Head Coach in 
Peter Torpy along with Pitching coach and 

assistant from the previous two years Arnie Noel, 
Kent Fitzgibbons and new coach to the program, 
assistant coach Kurt Russell. 

The program started with the selection process on 
Saturday the 12th of September and had a total of 
55 players register for selection. Over the selection 
process we took the approach of seeing the players 
in games until we got down to the final 30 players. 
We could see that the team was starting to stand 
out as a heavy second year player group, so we 
choose to include 6 first year players as train-on 
for experience. With our training, South Perth 
Baseball Club once again took us in as our venue 
during the week and their facilities and hospitality 
were outstanding. Due to the inexperience of the 
players in a High-Performance capacity we knew 
we needed to spend a lot of the training session 
with plays and general baseball knowledge rather 
than bull pens, so we had another session at 
Baseball Park on a Wednesday night for Bull pens 
which was a fantastic success.

Team final team travelled to Geelong, Victoria. 
Game 1 was a thriller with a walk off win against 
eventual winners Queensland 5-4. Jaxon Limpus 
with the single in the bottom of the 7th to win it. 
Limpus led the team with 2 hits. Caleb Goodwin 
had the start throwing 3.1 innings 3 hits 2 runs with 
3 strikeouts. Ben Randall and Taj Schofield were 
fantastic out of the pen each throwing scoreless 
1.1 innings. Our first double header was Day 2, 
unfortunately going down to CNSW 8-3. 3 errors 
cost us in this game. Hits to Cameron Landy, 
Jacob Santich, Ethan Oliphant and Ben Bird. Flynn 
McGahan got the ball and pitched 2.2 innings for 2 
hits, 1 ER and 6 SO. Game 2 of the Double header 
saw errors and walks being the problem in a blow 
out. Beating ACT 17-13. 3 hits to Lewdon TeMara, 
and 2 hits each to Flynn McGahan, Reily Marsh 
and Ethan Oliphant.

Day 3 saw us go down to South Australia 5-3. We 
had our opportunities to win but left it too late. With 

bases loaded in the last and the tying run on 2nd 
we couldn’t get it done. 4 errors didn’t help the 
cause. Hits to Lewdon, Josh Davies, Tyson Noel 
and Oliphant the shining light. Daniel Meloncelli 
had the start and was fantastic 2.1 innings 2 hits, 
2ER 2 BB and 1 SO. With Taj Scholfield, Cameron 
Landy and Kaine Newham each providing strong 
relief work. In  a must win game to keep our Gold 
medal game hopes a live we blew Vic Blue out 18-
6. A massive day at the plate for Jaxon Limpus 5 
for 5 with 2 runs and 4 RBI’s. Noel threw a blinder 
4 innings 9 hits and 4 ER with 4 SO. Then following 
up with Vic White in the afternoon winning 10-4. 
Limpus continued a very strong day collecting 
another 3 hits and 3 RBIs, supported by Aiden 
Browne and Finlay Duncan with 2 hits each. 

In the last day of round robin before the medal 
games we went down to NSW 14-6. Landy the 
only batter with a multi hit day. Making it through 
to the Bronze medal game against South Australia 
almost mirrored the round robin game. Going 
down 5-3 in a shorten game due to the smoke 
haze. Again having the tying run on second base 
with the final out was made. We did all our scoring 
in the top of the last inning and just ran out of 
outs and time. Hits to Landy, Santich, TeMara and 
William Truscott were not enough.  

We look in hindsight and where we finished was 
probably about where WA does stand in terms of 
the rest of the country in this age group. A look at 
tinkering with our program will only help develop 
our players. The bullpen sessions on their own 
night was a complete success. While the coaching 
staff sat to work out an MVP it was extremely hard 
but Jaxon Limpus who hit .462 with 3 doubles 
and 11 RBIs really held the offense together while 
making some extremely good defensive plays in 
Right Field. .

 
Peter Torpy 
Head Coach
Under 16s
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STATE UNDER 18 HEAT TEAM 

PLAYERS
Michael Albertini – GOS
Dylan Bojarski – SD
Aaron Callaghan – WAN
Daniel Carter – SD
Connor Chehab – SP
Daniel Choi – MEL
Bailey Jay Cooke – SD
Ben Drew – MEL
Calvin Eissens – WAN
Riley Franklin – MOR
Andrew Hurrelbrink – VP
Tye Kazmierowski – MEL
Taiyo Kurosawa – VP
Brady Oliphant – PER
Jay Reynolds – WAN
William Sherriff – SP
Daniel Stevenson – WAN
Maddux Stivey – SD

TEAM STAFF
Adam Courcha – Manager
Leigh Moyle – Assistant Coach
Simon Eissens – ​Pitching Coach
Mark Pettit – Coaching Coordinator
Dea Saupold – Executive Officer
Carol Williams – Trainer

STATE UNDER 16 HEAT TEAM 

PLAYERS
Benjamin Bird – Wanneroo
Aden Browne – Carine
Joshua Davies – Carine
Finlay Duncan – Rockingham
Caleb Goodwin – South Perth
Cameron Landy – Carine
Jaxon Limpus – Willetton
Riley Marsh – Vic Park / Belmont
Flynn McGahan – Braves
Daniel Meloncelli – Vic Park / Belmont
Kaine Newham 
Tyson Noel – Swan Districts
Ethan Oliphant – Perth
Ben Randall – Perth
Jacob Santich – Wanneroo
Taj Schofield – Swan Districts
Lewdon TeMara – Swan Districts
William Truscott – Vic Park / Belmont

TEAM STAFF
Peter Torpy – Manager
Kent Fitzgibbons – Assistant Coach
Kurt Russell – Assistant Coach
Arnie Noel – Pitching Coach
Dea Saupold – Executive Officer
Hannah Nalder – Trainer
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WA Perth HEAT Under 16s & 18s
Executive Officers Report

TRAINING

Training was Monday and Friday nights For the 
Under 18’s At Harley Davidson Baseball Park and 
South Perth,Tuesday and Saturday for the Under 
16’s at South Perth Baseball Club, they trained in 
conjunction with the Perth Heat players on some 
of those nights.

COST:  The cost was $3100

CAP NIGHT

This was held at Baseball Park in conjunction with 
a Perth Heat Game.

ACCOMMODATION AND TRAVEL

Flew Virgin Airlines and the accommodation was 
at BarwonValley Lodge in Geelong.

These apartments where ideal for the boys and 
the staff where amazing, if we are in Geelong 
next year this is a great place to stay. Highly 
recommend it

MEALS

Breakfast was in the boys own rooms, Lunch was 
at the grounds very ordinary lunches from the 
different venues. Dinner most night was at the 
Charles Darling Hotel in Geelong. The owners 
there James and Bronwyn Grigg were absolutely 
amazing staying open for us when we travelled 
back from Ballarat and Altona. 

TOURNAMENT: 

It started on the 10th Jan and went through to the 
15th Jan.

Still a little disappointed that the tournament 
was a short one and that the venues where in 3 
different places Geelong, Ballarat and Altona. 
With the tournament not taking into consideration 
if there was a rainout, or the fires that disrupted 
the tournament on several occasions.

As both teams had the disappointment of the final 
games being cut short of innings I think that if the 
Under 16’s had of completed a full 9 innings it 
might have changed the result. 

AWARDS

Maddux Stivey Most Valuable Player
.
RESULTS

Under 18’s Gold
Under 16’s 4th

IN CONCLUSION

I think last year the coaching staff were great 
and have been every year but I feel that this year 
having some younger and fresher coaches was 
great. They really brought forward some new 
ideas and the boys seem to like that a lot.

I really hope that the staff will continue next year 
as I feel they have a great repall with the players. 

Deanne Saupold
Under 16s & U18s
Executive Officer
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WA Perth HEAT Under 16s & 18s
Medical Report

I would like to begin my report for 2020 Nationals 
by saying a sincere thank you and congratulations 
to all of the coaching staff of the Under 18’s and 
Under 16’s teams, our wonderful Executive Officer 
Deanne Saupold, Lachlan Dale from Baseball 
WA, Sharon Butty from Baseball Australia, Perth 
Heat baseball team and the staff at the Geelong 
accommodation we stayed at. The help that was 
received from these people was amazing when we 
were dealing with a major event in the Final of the 
Under 18’s and after the tournament. Everyone 
went above and beyond to assist us.

This year we were fortunate enough to have a 
fully qualified Physiotherapist travel with us as the 
medical person for the Under 16 team.

The fires that surrounded Geelong did not seem 
to have a negative effect on our team health wise 
and Baseball Australia did everything they could 
to keep us informed and the players safe. Games 
were reduced in time and locations changed if 
needed. The under 16 team did play at Altona were 
the conditions did get worse during their game and 
one player was affected by the smoke haze.

PRE TOURNAMENT:

During the Pre Tournament series Hanna and I 
were able to complete rehab sessions with all the 
players from the 16’s and 18’s teams who needed 
it.

Pitchers and catchers were asked to wear 
compression after they threw and to also ice after 
an outing.

Those with niggles or injuries were referred to the 
list of Physiotherapists sanctioned by Baseball 
WA.

A couple of players were getting treatment from 
physiotherapists during the Goodwill Series and 
they were told that they needed to get signed off 
by the Heat Physiotherapy Staff and then give 
myself a letter from their physio outlining the rehab 
that was needed to be continued for them over the 
tournament. They all complied to this request.
.

TOURNAMENT PHASE:

Both WA teams travelled to Nationals with a fully 
fit compliment of players. All players had been 
following the Strength and Conditioning programs 
developed for them by BWA and our Coaching 
staff.

On day 1 one of the Under 16 players re injured 
an old injury and had to be rested for a number 
of days. He was seen by the Tournament Medical 
staff and given a clearance for day missed from 
play. He then had to undergo a Fitness test to 
be cleared to play for the rest of the tournament. 
Which he passed.

Another Under 16 player had to be assessed by 
tournament officials due to an injury received in a 
game and he was cleared to play after a couple of 
days off.

During the tournament a number of players came 
to the treatment room for massages on legs and 
lower backs, arms and shoulders due to general 
match play soreness, which is understandable in a 
Championships format of play. As the tournament 
progressed this number gradually increased as 
was to be expected.

Some of the 16’s players were receiving massages 
to relieve the aches and pains of tournament 
baseball at this stage.

A couple of players in both teams had regular 
strapping applied for the entire tournament: 
Ankles, knees, elbow and wrists.

A number of grass burns occurred over the 
tournament ... these were patched for the game 
quickly and then treated after the game. Treatment 
consisted of: cleaning the wound with water and 
Dettol with gauze, wiping over with Betadine and 
then applying Fixomul dressing to the site (this 
was to stay on until the dressing fell off). For 
play the dressing was covered with an Adhesive 
bandage, a ‘square’ or ‘circle’ (a type of adhesive 
second skin) and then removed after play. If the 
wound cover was dirty the site was redressed and 
cleaned. No infections developed over the ten 
days and all sites appeared to heal well.
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All players responded well to treatment and 
rehab sessions which were completed at the 
accommodation in the pool. We had all players 
available to play in the Gold medal game for 
Under 18’s. The under 16’s had a full compliment 
available too for the Bronze Medal game.

All pitchers completed their pitching rehab 
sessions after their appearances and received 
regular massages and therapy sessions in 
between assignments.

During the Final of the under 18s we had a couple 
of incidents, one being very major resulting in our 
player having to stay in Melbourne until he was 
deemed fit to fly by the hospital.

First incident was when our catcher wore a pitch to 
the throat, the ball bounced under his throat guard 
and literally took the wind out of him. He was 
checked onfield for any damage to his trachea and 
larynx. He was given the all clear by myself and 
the Tournament official Medical person. The player 
was monitored for the rest of the game closely.

The next incident occurred when one of players 
was going for a ball and had a collision with a team 
mate who was also going for the ball. 

Player A stayed on the ground for a long time, the 
umpires called time for me to go and check the 
player which I did. I did a full body check as the 
player was visibly distressed after the collision 
and had not moved. He stated that he was feeling 
winded and he was in some discomfort. I suggested 
that he come from the field and be replaced but 
he wanted to play on. I discussed my view with 
the head coach and stated that I did not think the 
player should continue in the game. But the player 
assured me he was ok. So he played on. During 
the players at bat he was very uncomfortable 
swinging the bat and on his return to the dugout 
I insisted that he take no further part in the game 
and go to hospital to be checked out. This decision 
got met with a NO from the player as we only had 
two digs to go in the game and the on the games 
conclusion he would go to the Doctors/hospital. I 
monitored that player for the rest of the game and 
took appropriate action. 

After the game the player in question became 
more distressed and we advised his father to 
take him to hospital as his condition was getting 
worse. On arrival at the hospital the player was 

admitted to ICU after it was discovered he had a 
lacerated spleen and broken ribs from the collision. 
Fortunately the ER doctor had said that all the 
treatment the player was given in the lead up to 
going to hospital had slowed down the bleeding. 
This player was required to stay for another week 
in Victoria due to not being able to fly.

His mother was flown over with the Perth Heat 
team who were playing in Geelong. His father 
remained with him and we arranged for them to 
stay at our accommodation.

Baseball Australia were in constant contact with 
us and helped with Insurance arrangements. They 
went above and beyond.

We also had another player hurt their arm in the 
outfield whilst throwing a ball into the infield and 
he was taken from the game and treated for an 
arm strain.

In the last innings we were notified by ASADA that 
two of our player would be drug tested after the 
game. We asked that they not be notified until the 
end of the game of which the official complied to 
our request. 

These boys were allowed to participate in 
the celebrations post game and then were 
accompanied by myself to their tests.

All boys showed the utmost respect when 
attending treatment and where completely honest 
when reporting issues of injuries or soreness.

The travel  between venues did not seem to impact 
the players.

I was very proud of the young men I was lucky 
enough to travel with and they were a credit to WA 
Baseball and their families. Congratulations on the 
success of both Teams.

It was fantastic to be a part of the Gold Medal 
winning Under 18 team and the Bronze play off 
Under 16 team.

Carolyn WILLIAMS
Head Trainer
State Under 16’s/18’s
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WA Claim#AYC2020 Under 18 Gold in Extra Time

Western Australia has topped Queensland 
11-9 in extra innings in the 2020 U18 

Australian Youth Championship gold medal game 
at Geelong Baseball Centre on Wednesday night.

WA overturned a five-run deficit to take the lead 
before needing an extra inning to claim its first U18 
title since 2017 in a thrilling contest on diamond one.

QLD V WA: BOX SCORE AND PLAY-BY-PLAY

Taiyo Kurosawa doubled with runners on first and 
second after the eighth started under international 
tiebreak rules, giving Western Australia the lead.

Bailey-Jay Cooke’s two-run double gave WA a 
three-run cushion.

Queensland added a run in the bottom of the 
eighth but Maddux Stivey was able to close out 
the victory.

Western Australia rallied from 7-2 down entering 
the fifth.

They scored twice in the fifth and four times in the 
sixth to take the lead.

Cooke drove in the go-ahead run with his third hit 
of the ballgame.

But Queensland responded in the bottom of the 
seventh, forcing extras on Tim Preston’s sacrifice 
fly.

Earlier, WA opened the scoring on Stivey’s two-run 
homer.

Queensland then scored four runs in the bottom of 
the first and three across the next two innings to 
take a handy lead.

Cooke had four RBIs on four hits for WA.

Kyle Ashby and Toma Faulkner drove in two runs 
for Queensland.

#AYC2020 MVP NAMED

Maddux Stivey was named the U18 Most Valuable 
Player and Zac Newbold picked up the U16 honour 
at the 2020 Australian Youth Championship.

Stivey, who was part of Western Australia’s 
gold medal winning U18 outfit, was named MVP 
following yesterday’s decider after putting together 
an impressive tournament with bat and ball.

The Swan Districts product went 14-for-28 (.500) 
with three homers, including a two-run shot in the 
gold medal game, and 14 RBIs.

He worked four innings, striking out six and not 
allowing a run or hit.
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BASEBALL WA 
AWARD WINNERS
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1936	 Wests

1937	 Wests

1938	 Press

1939	 Wests

1940	 Press

1941	 Press

1942-45	 Recess

1946	 Victoria Park

1947	 South Perth

1948	 South Perth

1949	 Perth

1950	 Perth

1951	 South Perth

1952	 South Perth

1953	 Swan Districts

1954	 Swan Districts

1955	 Swan Districts

1956	 Swan Districts

1957	 Swan Districts

1958	 Swan Districts

1959	 Swan Districts

1960	 Perth

1961	 Perth

1962	 Swan Districts

1963	 Swan Districts

1963-64	 West Perth

1964-65	 Victoria Park

1965-66	 Perth

1966-67	 South Perth

1967-68	 Perth

1968-69	 Perth

1969-70	 West Perth

1970-71	 Perth

1971-72	 Wembley

1972-73	 Wembley

1973-74	 East Fremantle

1974-75	 Eagles

1975-76	 Perth

1976-77	 Victoria Park

1977-78	 Wembley

1978-79	 Victoria Park

1979-80	 Wembley

1980-81	 Victoria Park

1981-82	 Victoria Park

1982-83	 Perth

1983-84	 Perth

1984-85	 Victoria Park

1985-86	 Morley

1986-87	 Cockburn

1987-88	 Melville

1988-89	 Melville

1989-90	 West Stirling

1990-91	 Morley

1991-92	 Morley

1992-93	 Wembley

1993-94	 Perth

1994-95	 Perth

1995-96	 Perth

1996-97	 Perth

1997-98	 Wanneroo

1998-99	 Wanneroo

1999-2000	 South Perth

2000-01	 South Perth

2001-02	 South Perth

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
SL PREMIERSHIP HISTORY

2002-03	 Wanneroo

2003-04	 South Perth

2004-05	 South Perth

2005-06	 Perth

2006-07	 Swan Districts

2007-08	 Swan Districts

2008-09	 Wanneroo

2009-10	 Morley Eagles

2010-11	 Wanneroo

2011-12	 South Perth

2012-13	 South Perth

2013-14	 Braves

2014-15	 Braves

2015-16	 Wanneroo

2016-17	 Braves

2017-18	 Braves

2018-19	 Morley

2019-20	 N/A
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The Neville Pratt Medal
Previously the “Presidents’ Medal” 1952-2000 & Incorporating the James Garfield Crawford Memorial Award 

(1984-85 onwards)

1952	 Jim Dore, South Perth
1953 & 54	 Doug Stewart, Wembley
1955	 Don Callanan, West Perth
1956	 Kevin Parry, Northern Suburbs
1957	 Kaye Greenham, Swan Districts
1958	 Bob Meloncelli, Victoria Park
1959	 Norm Macey Jnr, West Perth
1960	 Bob Meloncelli, VicPark 
	 & Brian Wren, West Perth
1961	 Neville Pratt, Nedlands
1962	 Eddie Hayes & Denis Adams, Victoria Park
1963	 Mel O’Hern, Swan Districts
1963-64	 Graeme Menner, South Perth
1964-65	 Ron Thornton, West Perth
1965-66	 Graeme Menner, South Perth
1966-67	 Mel O’Hern, Swan Districts
1967-68	 Bob Meloncelli, Victoria Park
1968-69	 Mel O’Hern, Swan Districts
1969-70	 Mel O’Hern, Swan Districts
1970-71	 Alan Cunningham, SPerth 
	 &  Sid Thompson, Wemb
1971-72	 Bob Harris, Swan Districts
1972-73	 Sid Thompson, Wembley
1973-74	 Sid Thompson, Wembley
1974-75	 Ray Del Carlo, University
1975-76	 Kerry Wither, Swan Districts
1976-77	 Neil Page, University
1977-78	 Mark Stipetich, Vic Park 
	 & Ray Michell, Wembley
1978-79	 Mark Stipetich, Victoria Park
1979-80	 Mark Stipetich, Victoria Park
1980-81	 Ray Michell, Perth
1981-82	 Graham Ward, Swan Districts
1982-83	 Dave Rusin, Fremantle
1983-84	 Mike Burgermeister, Kelmscott
1984-85	 Doug Mateljan, Swan Districts
1985-86	 Graham Ward, Swan Districts

1986-87	 Ray Michell, Wembley
1987-88	 Dave Rusin, Melville
1988-89	 Dave Rusin, Melville
1989-90	 Brett List, Perth
1990-91	 Kevin Driscoll, Morley
1991-92	 Dave Rusin, Melville
1992-93	 John Greenleaf, Wemb 
	 & Steve Johnson, W Stirling
1993-94	 Dave Rusin, Melville
1994-95	 Dave Rusin, South Perth
1995-96	 Jeff Wishart, Wembley
1996-97	 Brad Williamson, Morley
1997-98	 Kevin Hooker, Wanneroo
1998-99	 Kevin Hooker, Wanneroo

BASEBALL WA LTD
1999-00	 Mike Boire, Wanneroo
2000-01	 Gavin Edmondson, West Stirling
2001-02	 Michael Moyle, Perth
2002-03	 Steve Fish, Wanneroo
2003-04	 Brad Thomas, Wanneroo
2004-05	 Matthew Brendon, Perth
2005-06	 Ryan Schurman, Gosnells
2006-07	 Brendon Thomas, Morley
2007-08	 Steve Fish, Wanneroo
2008-09	 Brad Reeves, Morley 
	 & Kevin Roovers, Gosnells
2009-10	 Brad Thomas, Wanneroo
2010-11	 Graeme Scorer, Melville
2011-12	 Dylan Jones, Morley
2012-13	 Matthew Erickson, Wembley
2013-14	 Michael McIver, Wembley
2014-15	 Ryan Bollinger, Braves
2015-16	 Jordan Dyer, Braves
2016-17	 Matthew Kennelly
2017-18	 Dan Moti, Gosnells
2018-19	 Eric Grabe, Braves	

Annual Report - Baseball WA Ltd
SL FAIREST & BEST
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State League All-Star Team
Starting Pitcher	 Dylan Brammer	 Vic ParkBelmont Baseball Club

Starting Pitcher	 Tom Bailey	 Wanneroo Baseball Club

Relief Pitcher	 Mitch Neunborn	 Braves Baseball Club

Catcher	 Kevin Clark	 Braves Baseball Club

First Base	 Mitch Neunborn	 Braves Baseball Club

Second Base	 Chase Diggins	 Rockingham Baseball Club

Third Base	 Gavin Stupienski	 Vic Park/Belmont Baseball Club

Short Stop	 Nick Gotta	 Swan Districts Basball Club

Left Field	 Madison Beaird	 Wanneroo Baseball Club

Centre Field	 Josh Diggins	 Rpckingham Baseball Club

Right Field	 Adam Barnarich	 South Perth Baseball Club

Designated Hitter	 Zack McMillan	 Morley Baseball Club

State League Awards
AWARD	 WINNER	 CLUB

Fairest  Best	 Mitchell Nuenborn	 Braves Baseball Club

Batting Average	 Joshua Diggins	 Rockingham Baseball Club
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MVP
GRADE	 NAME	 CLUB

Womens	 Kaila Borgomastro	 Braves Baseball Club

G Grade	 Daniel Bailey	 Balcatta Baseball Club

F Grade	 Aaron Mayo	 Perth Baseball Club

E Grade	 Daniel Williams	 Rockingham Baseball Club

D Grade	 Alex Malihoudis	 Alkimos Baseball Club

C Grade	 Nathan Dixey	 Vic Park / Belmont Baseball Club

B Grade	 Daniel Calverley	 Morley Baseball Club

A Grade	 Travis Erdmann	 Wanneroo Baseball Club

State League 3	 Gerard Prosper	 Wanneroo Baseball Club

State League 2	 Brandon Dale	 Morley Baseball Club

Batting Average Awards
GRADE	 AVG 	 NAME	 CLUB	

Womens	 .756	 Kaila Borgomastro	 Braves Baseball Club

G Grade	 .577	 Joshua Coe	 Roleystone Baseball Club

F Grade	 .528	 Wayne Turner	 Vic Park Baseball Club

E Grade	 .508	 Dan Williams	 Rockingham Baseball Club

D Grade	 .576	 Alex Malihoudis	 Alkimos Baseball Club

C Grade	 .567	 Nathan Dixey	 Vic Park Baseball Club

B Grade	 .545	 Daniel Calverley	 Morley Baseball Club

A Grade	 .492	 Travis Erdmann	 Wanneroo Baseball Club

State League 3	 .600	 Gerard Prosper	 Wanneroo Baseball Club

State League 2	 .489	 Dylan Bojarski	 Swan Districts Baseball Club
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Baseball WA - SL 1
Individual Batting Leaders (All games)

PA
1	 Bonomi Aaron	 MOR	 142
2	 Wheeler Max	 SP	 136
3	 Yetsko Ian	 BRV	 133
4	 Garratt Sean	 BRV	 132
5	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 131
6	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 130
7	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 130
8	 Adamson Robin	 GOS	 130
9	 Boyer Ryan	 CAR	 130
10	 Olson Tony	 SP	 129

AB
1	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 125
2	 Bonomi Aaron	 MOR	 122
3	 Garratt Sean	 BRV	 120
4	 Wheeler Max	 SP	 119
5	 Boyer Ryan	 CAR	 118
6	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 117
7	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 116
8	 Robideau Michael	 GOS	 115
9	 Yetsko Ian	 BRV	 114
10	 Trimble Douglas	 GOS	 111

RUNS
1	 Olson Tony	 SP	 33
2	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 31
3	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 30
4	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 30
5	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 30
6	 Bowey Jake	 SP	 29
7	 Clark Kevin	 BRV	 28
8	 Bonomi Aaron	 MOR	 27
9	 Holt Cody	 CAR	 25
10	 Yetsko Ian	 BRV	 25

HITS
1	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 50
2	 Diggins Joshua	 ROC	 50
3	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 46
4	 Adamson Robin	 GOS	 43
5	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 42
6	 Wheeler Max	 SP	 41
7	 Bonomi Aaron	 MOR	 39
8	 Gotta Nick	 SD	 37
9	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 37
10	 Olson Tony	 SP	 37

RBI
1 	 McMillin Zachary	 MOR	 32
2 	 Waterhouse Mitchell	 VP	 28
3 	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 28
4 	 DeBonville Thomas	 ROC	 28
5 	 Olson Tony	 SP	 26
6 	 Trimble Douglas	 GOS	 25
7 	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 25
8	 Smalpage Jack	 VP	 24
9	 Turnbull Jake	 WAN	 24
10	 Wheeler Max	 SP	 23

2B
1	 Wheeler Max	 SP	 14
2	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 14
3	 Robideau Michael	 GOS	 11
4	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 11
5	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 10
6	 Bowey Jake	 SP	 10
7	 Adamson Robin	 GOS	 10
8	 Clark Kevin	 BRV	 10
9	 Yetsko Ian	 BRV	 10
10	 Stivey Maddux	 SD	 9

3B
1	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 4
2	 Cruz Troy	 MOR	 4
3	 Gotta Nick	 SD	 3
4	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 3
5	 DeBonville Thomas	 ROC	 3
6	 Chapman Kieran	 MOR	 3
7	 Yetsko Ian	 BRV	 3
8	 Bonomi Aaron	 MOR	 3
9	 Schofield Mitchell	 SD	 2
10	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 2

HR
1	 Bowey Jake	 SP	 7
2	 Trimble Douglas	 GOS	 7
3	 Schofield Mitchell	 SD	 6
4	 Smalpage Jack	 VP	 6
5	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 6	
6	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 5
7	 Kennelly Samuel	 BRV	 5
8	 Waterhouse Mitchell	 VP	 4
9	 Olson Tony	 SP	 4
10	 Turnbull Jake	 WAN	 4

BB
1	 Clark Kevin	 BRV	 28
2	 Gotta Nick	 SD	 27
3	 Smith Ryan	 GOS	 25
4	 Dadson Brendan	 PER	 24
5	 Mitchell Jayden	 SP	 23
6	 Bowey Jake	 SP	 22
7	 Conlan Riley	 CAR	 21
8	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 19
9	 Olson Tony	 SP	 18
10	 McMillin Zachary	 MOR	 18
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Baseball WA - SL 1
Individual Pitching Leaders

SB
1	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 17
2	 Collins Liam	 GOS	 16
3	 Bonomi Aaron	 MOR	 13
4	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 12
5	 Spring Riley	 WEM	 12
6	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 12
7	 Blount Adrian	 MOR	 12
8	 Cruz Troy	 MOR	 11
9	 Brammer Dylan	 VP	 9
10	 Robideau Michael	 GOS	 9

AVH (Min 93 PA)
1	 Diggins Joshua	 ROC	 .455
2	 Gotta Nick	 SD	 .446
3	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 .400
4	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 .397
5	 Adamson Robin	 GOS	 .394
6	 Chapman Kieran	 MOR	 .386
7	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 .385
8	 Clark Kevin	 BRV	 .376
9	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 .366
10	 Barbarich Adam	 SP	 .359

OBP (Min 93 PA)
1	 Gotta Nick	 SD	 .582
2	 Clark Kevin	 BRV	 .547
3	 Conlan Riley	 CAR	 .500
4	 Chapman Kieran	 MOR	 .495
5	 McMillin Zachary	 MOR	 .488
6	 Diggins Joshua	 ROC	 .484
7	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 .475
8	 Dadson Brendan	 PER	 .475
9	 Adamson Robin	 GOS	 .473
10	 Diggins Chase	 ROC	 .458

SLG (Min 93 PA)
1	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 .791
2	 Stupienski Gavin	 VP	 .634
3	 Bowey Jake	 SP	 .632
4	 Adamson Robin	 GOS	 .615
5	 Gotta Nick	 SD	 .614
6	 Beaird Madison	 WAN	 .584
7	 Diggins Joshua	 ROC	 .564
8	 Turnbull Jake	 WAN	 .560
9	 Trimble Douglas	 GOS	 .559
10	 Olson Tony	 SP	 .558

IP
1	 Clarkson Dillan	 SD	 102.2
2	 Murphy Sam	 ROC	 91.0
3	 Bailey Tom	 WAN	 87.0
4	 Duguay Guilaume	 PER	 87.0
5	 Silvi Joshua	 GOS	 80.0
6	 Molloy Brock	 ROC	 79.2
7	 Harcksen Misja	 BRV	 79.1
8	 King Christopher	 WAN	 77.1
9	 Mann Luke	 SP	 76.0
10	 Southee Lochlan	 MOR	 72.2

WINS
1	 Harcksen Misja	 BRV	 9
2	 Brammer Dylan	 VP	 8
3	 Mann Luke	 SP	 7
4	 Bailey Tom	 WAN	 7
5	 King Christopher	 WAN	 7
6	 Reyes Peter	 CAR	 7
7	 Southee Lochlan	 MOR	 7
8	 Murphy Sam	 ROC	 6
9	 Holt Cody	 CAR	 6
10	 Duguay Guilaume	 PER	 6

SAVES
1	 King Christopher	 WAN	 4
2	 Millson Adam	 GOS	 4
3	 Neunborn Mitchell	 BRV	 3
4	 Dawson Chris	 VP	 2
5	 Grice Benn	 ROC	 2
6	 Duguay Guilaume	 PER	 2
7	 Cooke Bailey-Jay	 SD	 1
8	 Mann Luke	 SP	 1
9	 Watson James	 SP	 1
10	 Bailey Tom	 WAN	 1

STRIKEOUTS
1	 Bailey Tom	 WAN	 112
2	 Brammer Dylan	 VP	 101
3	 Murphy Sam	 ROC	 92
4	 Duguay Guilaaume	 PER	 82
5	 Harcksen Misja	 BRV	 79
6	 Southee Lochlan	 MOR	 79
7	 Olson Tony	 SP	 77
8	 Reyes Peter	 CAR	 67
9	 Millson Adam	 GOS	 63
10	 Remirez Devon	 CAR	 63

ERA (Min 69 IP)

1	 Brammer Dylan	 VP	 1.81
2	 Bailey Tom	 WAN	 2.69
3	 Harcksen Misja	 BRV	 2.95
4	 Southee Lochlan	 MOR	 3.10
5	 King Christopher	 WAN	 3.38
6	 Murphy Sam	 ROC	 3.66
7	 Mann Luke	 SP	 3.91
8	 Duguay Guilaaume	 PER	 3.93
9	 Silvi Joshua	 GOS	 4.05
10	 Clarkson Dillan	 SD	 4.38
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STATE LEAGUE 3 LADDER

A GRADE LADDER
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B GRADE LADDER

C GRADE LADDER
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D GRADE LADDER

E GRADE LADDER
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F GRADE LADDER

G GRADE LADDER
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WOMEN"S LADDER
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DIRECTORS' REPORT 
 
 
 
 

The directors present their report on the company for the financial period ended 30 June 2020. 
 

Information on Directors 
 

The names of each person who has been a director during the period and to the date of this report are:  
 
 
 
 

Mr Michael Peter Andruszkiw 
Mr Gary John Arnell 
Mr Anthony Mark Beyer  
Mrs Susan Mary Butler (retired on 04/07/2020) 
Mrs Marie Michele Malaxos 
Mr Roderick Earl Bacon (appointed on 28/01//2020) 
Ms Carolyn Elizabeth Gatward  
Mr Jason Michael Hewitt (appointed on 28/01//2020) 
Mr Shane Tonkin (retired on 18/12/2019) 

 
 

Directors have been in office since the start of the financial period to the date of this report unless otherwise stated.  

Operating Results 
 

The profit of the company after providing for income tax amounted to $4,161,236 (2019: $997,489) 
 

Significant Changes in the State of Affairs 

There have been no significant changes in the state of affairs of the Company during the period.  

Principal Activities 

The principal activities of the company during the financial period were promotion of baseball activities. 

No significant changes in the nature of the company's activity occurred during the financial period. 

Environmental Issues 
The company's operations are not regulated by any significant environmental regulations under a law of the Commonwealth 
or of a state or territory of Australia. 

Dividends paid or recommended 
No dividends were paid or declared since the start of the financial period. No recommendation for payment of dividends has 
been made. 

 

Review of Operations 
 

During the year, the company continued to engage in it’s principal activity, the results of which are disclosed in the attached 
financial statements. 
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Future Developments, Prospects and Business Strategies 
The board is focused on the long-term development of baseball in Western Australia. 

 
This is reflected in our strategic plan, which has five pillars; 

- participation; 
- high performance; 
- club health; 
- facilities and 
- profile. 

The strategic plan can be found on our webpage 
http://www.baseballwa.com.au/uploads/1/2/7/2/127255926/baseball_wa_strategic_plan_2017-2020.pdf 

 

The plan provides a framework through which we can assess challenges, opportunities and achievements. 

 
Proceedings on behalf of Company 

No person has applied under Section 237 of the Corporations Act for leave of the Court to bring proceedings on behalf of 
Baseball WA Ltd or intervene in any proceedings to which Baseball WA Ltd is a party for the purpose of taking responsibility 
on behalf of Baseball WA Ltd for all or any part of those proceedings. Baseball WA Ltd was not a party to any such 
proceedings during the year. 

 
Subsequent Events 

 
The COVID-19 Pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation during the year is continuing to have a negative 
impact on world-wide business activities. The company initiated procedures to address the health and wellbeing of its 
employees, members, contractors and the Board of directors. The full extent of the impact and recovery from COVID-19 is 
not yet known. The extent of the impact on future revenues, operating costs, carrying values of assets and liabilities is also 
currently unknown.  

 
There were no other events that occurred after 30 June 2020, and/or prior to the signing of the financial statements, that would 
affect the ongoing structure and financial activities of the company. 
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Options 

No options over issued shares or interests in the company were granted during or since the end of the financial period and 
there were no options outstanding at the date of this report. 

Indemnification and Insurance of Officers and Auditors 
No indemnities have been given or insurance premiums paid, during or since the end of the financial period, for any person 
who is or has been an officer or auditor of the company. 

Auditor's Independence Declaration 
The lead auditor's independence declaration in accordance with section 307C of the Corporations Act 2001, for the period 
ended has been received and can be found on page 4. 

 
Signed in accordance with a resolution of the Board of Directors: 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Director:    
Mr Anthony Mark Beyer 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Secretary:    
Mr Lachlan Dale 

 
 
 
 

Dated this                       day of 
 

December 20202nd
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AUDITOR’S INDEPENDENCE DECLARATION UNDER S307C OF 
THE CORPORATIONS ACT 2001 TO THE DIRECTORS OF  

BASEBALL WA LIMITED 
 
 
 
I declare that, to the best of my knowledge and belief, during the year ended 30 
June 2020 there have been: 
 

i. no contraventions of the auditor’s independence requirements as set out 

in the Corporations Act 2001 and the Australian Charities and Not-for-Profits 

Commission Act 2012 in relation to the audit; and 

 

ii. no contraventions of any applicable code of professional conduct in 

relation to the audit. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
HTG PARTNERS 
 
 
 
 
 
....................................................... 
TIMOTHY TURNER 
PARTNER 
 
 
 
 
Dated in Perth this 2nd day of December 2020 
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STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
  

Note 
2020 

$ 
 2019 

$ 
 
Income 

    

Revenue 14 5,560,548  2,460,522 
Finance Income  706  548 
     
Expenditure 
Auditor's remuneration 

  
(10,580) 

  
(5,980) 

Bad and doubtful debt expenses  (7,874)  (40,837) 
Depreciation and amortisation expenses  (335,657)  (159,083) 
Employee benefits expenses  (160,541)  (231,367) 
Finance Expenses  (2,511)  - 
Other expenses  (882,855)  (1,026,314) 
  (1,400,018)  (1,463,581) 
Profit Before Income Tax 3 4,161,236  997,489 
Income Tax Expense  -  - 
Profit after Income Tax  4,161,236  997,489 

 
Other Comprehensive Income 

    

Items that will not be reclassified to profit and loss  -  - 
Items that may be reclassified to profit and loss  -  - 

TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME FOR THE YEAR  4,161,236  997,489 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION 

AS AT 30 JUNE 2020 
 

2020 2019 
 Note $  $ 
 
ASSETS 
CURRENT ASSETS 
Cash and cash equivalents 

 
 
 

4 

 
 
 

175,884 

  
 
 

2,480,776 
Trade and other receivables 5 115,123  31,223 
Other current assets 6 27,512  17,726 
TOTAL CURRENT ASSETS  318,519  2,529,725 
 
NON-CURRENT ASSETS 
Property, plant and equipment 

 
 

8 

 
 

8,588,598 

  
 

4,752,068 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT ASSETS  8,588,598  4,752,068 
TOTAL ASSETS  8,907,117  7,281,793 
 
LIABILITIES 
CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Trade and other payables 

 
 
 

7 

 
 
 
                    15,834 

  
 
 

1,017,603 
Provisions 9 28,717  43,374 
Other current liabilities 10 64,741  1,571,729 
Borrowings 11 12,500  12,500 
TOTAL CURRENT LIABILITIES  121,792  2,645,206 
 
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES 
Borrowings 

 
 

11 

 
 

12,502 

  
 

25,000 
TOTAL NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES  12,502  25,000 
TOTAL LIABILITIES  134,294  2,670,206 
NET ASSETS  8,772,823  4,611,587 

 
EQUITY 
Share Capital 

 
 

19 

 
 

- 

  
 

- 
Retained earnings 12 8,772,823  4,611,587 
TOTAL EQUITY  8,772,823  4,611,587 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
 

Note Retained earnings Total 
 $ $ 

 
Balance at 1 July 2018 

 
3,614,098 

  
3,614,098 

Profit attributable to members 997,489  997,489 
Balance at 30 June 2019 4,611,587  4,611,587 
Profit attributable to members 4,161,236  4,161,236 
Balance at 30 June 2020 8,772,823  8,772,823 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
  

2020 2019 
 Note $  $ 

 
 

Cashflows from Operating Activities 
Receipts from customers 

  
651,471 

  
875,343 

Receipts from operating grants  344,488  271,095 
Interest received  706  548 
Receipts from rental operations  74,182  82,627 
Payments to suppliers and employees  (1,169,738)  (1,124,276) 
Net Cash provided by operating activities 13 (98,891)  105,337 
 
Cashflows from Investing Activities 
Payments for property, plant & equipment 

  
 

(5,052,000) 

  
 

(638,193) 
Receipt of loan repayment  -                      10,000 
Net cash provided by investing activities  (5,052,000)  (628,193) 
 
Cashflows from Financing Activities 
Proceeds of borrowings / (repayment of borrowings) 

  
 

(12,500) 

  
 

(12,500) 
Receipt of grant funding for capital projects  2,858,500  2,750,000 
Net cash provided by / (used in) financing activities  2,846,000  2,737,500 
 
Net increase / (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 

  
(2,304,891) 

  
2,214,643 

Cash at beginning of financial year 
 

2,480,775 
 

266,132 
Cash at end of financial year 4 175,884  2,480,775 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

The accompanying notes form part of these financial statements. 
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The financial statements cover Baseball WA Limited as an individual entity. Baseball WA Limited is a not for profit 
company limited by shares incorporated under the Corporations Act 2001. 

The functional and presentation currency of Baseball WA Limited is Australian dollars. 

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated. 

1 Basis of Preparation 
 

This financial report is a special purpose financial report prepared in order to satisfy the financial reporting 
requirements of the Corporations Act 2001. The Board has determined that the company is not a reporting entity.  

 
In the opinion of the Board of Directors, the company is not a reporting entity since there are unlikely to exist users 
of the financial report who are not able to command the preparation of reports tailored so as to satisfy specifically 
all of their information needs. These special purpose financial statements have been prepared to meet the reporting 
requirements of the Act. 

 
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the mandatory Australian Accounting Standards 
applicable to companies reporting under the Corporations Act. The company has complied with the recognition and 
measurement criteria of Australian Accounting Standards. 

The financial statements have been prepared on an accruals basis and are based on historical costs modified, 
where applicable, by the measurement at fair value of selected non-current assets, financial assets and financial 
liabilities. 

Significant accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these financial statements are presented below and 
are consistent with prior reporting periods unless otherwise stated. 

 
The following significant accounting policies, which are consistent with the previous period unless stated 
otherwise, have been adopted in the preparation of this financial report. 

2 Summary of Significant Accounting Policies 

Property, plant and equipment 
Each class of property, plant and equipment is carried at cost or fair value less, where applicable, any 
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses. 
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Property 

Freehold land and buildings are carried at their fair value (being the amount for which an asset could be exchanged 
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm's length transaction), based on periodic, but at least triennial, 
valuations by external independent valuers, less subsequent depreciation for buildings. 

Increases in the carrying amount arising on revaluation of land and buildings are credited to a revaluation surplus 
in equity. Decreases that offset previous increases of the same asset are charged against fair value reserves directly 
in equity; all other decreases are recognised in profit or loss. 

Any accumulated depreciation at the date of revaluation is eliminated against the gross carrying amount of the asset 
and the net amount is restated to the revalued amount of the asset. 

 

Plant and Equipment 

Plant and equipment and leasehold improvements (including baseball park) are measured on the cost basis and 
therefore carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated impairment. In the event that the 
carrying amount of plant and equipment is greater than the estimated recoverable amount, the carrying amount is 
written down immediately to the estimated recoverable amount and impairment losses are recognised either in profit 
or loss or as a revaluation decrease if the impairment losses relate to a revalued asset. An assessment of 
recoverable amount is made when impairment indicators are present. 

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, 
only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow lo the company and the cost 
of the item can be measured reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as expenses in profit or loss 
during the financial period in which they are incurred. 

 

Depreciation 

Plant and equipment is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the asset’s useful life to the Company, commencing 
when the asset is ready for use. At the end of each annual reporting period, the depreciation method, useful life and 
residual value of each asset is reviewed. Any revisions are accounted for prospectively as a change in estimates.  

 
 

Fair Value of Assets 

The Company measures some of its assets at fair value. Fair value is the price the Company would receive to sell 
an asset in an orderly (i.e.unforced) transaction between independent, knowledgeable and willing market 
participants at the measurement date. 
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Inventories 
 
 

Inventories are measured at the lower of cost and net realisable value. The cost of manufactured products includes 
direct materials, direct labour and an appropriate proportion of variable and fixed overheads. Overheads are applied 
on the basis of normal operating capacity. Costs are assigned on a first-in, first-out basis. 

 

Financial Instruments 
Financial instruments are recognised initially using trade date accounting, i.e. on the date that the company becomes 
party to the contractual provisions of the instrument. 

 

On initial recognition, all financial instruments are measured at fair value plus transaction costs (except for 
instruments measured at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are expensed as incurred).  

 

Loans and receivables 

Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted 
in an active market. They arise principally through the provision of goods and services to customers but also 
incorporate other types of contractual monetary assets. 

After initial recognition these are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method, less provision for 
impairment. Any change in their value is recognised in profit or loss. 

The company's trade and most other receivables fall into this category of financial instruments. Discounting is 
omitted where the effect of discounting is considered immaterial. 

 

Significant receivables are considered for impairment on an individual asset basis when they are past due at the 
reporting date or when objective evidence is received that a specific counterparty will default.  

The amount of the impairment is the difference between the net carrying amount and the present value of the future 
expected cash flows associated with the impaired receivable. 

 

For trade receivables, impairment provisions are recorded in a separate allowance account with the loss being 
recognised in profit or loss. When confirmation has been received that the amount is not collectable, the gross 
carrying value of the asset is written off against the associated impairment provision. 
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Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are credited against other expenses in profit or loss.  

 

In some circumstances, the company renegotiates repayment terms with customers which may lead to changes in 
the timing of the payments, the Company does not necessarily consider the balance to be impaired, however 
assessment is made on a case-by-case basis. 

 

Available-for-sale financial assets 

Available-for-sale financial assets are non-derivative financial assets that do not qualify for inclusion in any of the 
other categories of financial assets. 

Purchases and sales of available-for-sale investments are recognised on settlement date. 

Available-for-sale financial assets are measured at fair value, with subsequent changes in value recognised in other 
comprehensive income. 

Gains and losses arising from financial instruments classified as available-for-sale are only recognised in profit or 
loss when they are sold or when the investment is impaired. 

In the case of impairment or sale, any gain or loss previously recognised in equity is transferred to the profit or loss. 

Losses recognised in prior period income statements resulting from the impairment of debt securities are reversed 
through the income statements, if the subsequent increase can be objectively related to an event occurring after the 
impairment loss was recognised in profit or loss. 



Baseball WA	 page 80

BASEBALL WA LIMITED 
A.B.N. 21 522 890 770 

NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
FOR THE PERIOD ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

Page 13 

 

 

 
 
 
 

Impairment of Non-Financial Assets 
At the end of each reporting period the Company determines whether there is an evidence of an impairment 
indicator for non-financial assets. 

Where this indicator exists and regardless for goodwill, indefinite life intangible assets and intangible assets not yet 
available for use, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated. 

Where assets do not operate independently of other assets, the recoverable amount of the relevant cash- 
generating unit (CGU) is estimated. 

The recoverable amount of an asset or CGU is the higher of the fair value less costs of disposal and the value in use. 
Value in use is the present value of the future cash flows expected to be derived from an asset or cash- generating 
unit. 

 
Where the recoverable amount is less than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss.  

Reversal indicators are considered in subsequent periods for all assets which have suffered an impairment loss 

except for goodwill. 
 

Accounts Receivable and Other Receivables 
 

Accounts receivable are recognised initially at the transaction price (i.e. cost) and are subsequently measured at 
cost less provision for impairment. Receivables expected to be collected within 12 months of the end of the 
reporting period are classified as current assets. All other receivables are classified as non-current assets. 

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of accounts receivable and other receivables are 
reviewed to determine whether there is any objective evidence that the amounts are not recoverable. If so, an 
impairment loss is recognised immediately in income and expenditure statement. 
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Employee Benefits 
Provision is made for the company's liability for employee benefits arising from services rendered by employees to 
the end of the reporting period. Employee benefits that are expected to be wholly settled within one year have 
been measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the liability is settled. 

 
 

Employee benefits expected to be settled more than one year after the end of the reporting period have been 
measured at the present value of the estimated future cash outflows to be made for those benefits. In determining 
the liability, consideration is given to employee wage increases and the probability that the employee may satisfy 
vesting requirements. Cashflows are discounted using market yields on high quality corporate bond rates 
incorporating bonds rated AAA or AA by credit agencies, with terms to maturity that match the expected timing of 
cash flows. Changes in the measurement of the liability are recognised in profit or loss.  

 

Provisions 
 

Provisions are recognised when the company has a legal or constructive obligation, as a result of past events, for 
which it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will result and that outflow can be reliably measured.  

 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 
 
 

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand deposits and short-term investments which are 
readily convertible to known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of change in value. 
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Revenue and Other Income 
Revenue is recognised when the amount of the revenue can be measured reliably, it is probable that economic 
benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the Company and specific criteria relating to the type of 
revenue as noted below, has been satisfied. 

All revenue is stated net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST). 

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable and is presented net of returns, 
discounts and rebates. 

 

Rental income 

Investment property revenue is recognised on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease term so as to reflect 
a constant periodic rate of return on the net investment. 

 

Interest revenue 

Interest revenue is recognised using the effective interest rate method. 

Grant revenue 
 

A number of programs are supported by grants received from the federal, state and local governments.  
 

Grant revenue that is not subject to conditions is recognised when control of the funds is obtained, economic 
benefits are probable and the amount can be reliably measured. If conditions are attached to a grant which must 
be satisfied before the Company is eligible to receive the contribution, recognition of the grant as revenue is 
deferred until those conditions are satisfied. 

Dividend revenue 

Dividends are recognised when the right to receive payment is established. 
 

Rendering of services 
 
 

Revenue in relation to rendering of services is recognised depending on whether the outcome of the services can 
be estimated reliably. If the outcome can be estimated reliably then the stage of completion of the services is 
used to determine the appropriate level of revenue to be recognised in the period. If the outcome cannot be 
reliably estimated then revenue is recognised to the extent of expenses recognised that are recoverable.  

If the outcome cannot be reliably estimated then revenue is recognised to the extent of expenses recognised that 
are recoverable. 
 
Revenue from training services is generally recognised once the training has been delivered. 
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Accounts Payable and Other Payables 
 

Accounts payable are recognised at their transaction price. Accounts payable are obligations on the basis of 
normal credit terms. 

 
Goods and Services Tax (GST) 

 
Revenue, expenses and assets are recognised net of the amount of goods and services tax (GST), except where 
the amount of GST incurred is not recoverable from the Australian Taxation Office (ATO).  

Receivables and payables are stated inclusive of GST. 

Cash flows in the cash flow statement are included on a gross basis and the GST component of cash flows arising 
from investing or financing activities which is recoverable from, or payable to, the taxation authority is classified as 
operating cash flows. 

Comparative Amounts 

Comparatives are consistent with prior years, unless otherwise stated. 

Where a change in comparatives has also affected the opening retained earnings previously presented in a 
comparative period, an opening statement of financial position at the earliest date of the comparative period has 
been presented. 

Contingencies 
Contingent liabilities and assets are not recognised in the balance sheet but are reported in the relevant schedules 
and notes. They may arise from uncertainty as to the existence of a liabili ty or asset or represent an asset or 
liability in respect of which the amount cannot be reliably measured. Contingent assets are disclosed when 
settlement is probable but not virtually certain, and contingent liabilities are disclosed when settlement is greater 
than remote. 

New and Amended Standards adopted by the Company 
 

The company has adopted all the mandatory amendments to Australian Accounting Standards issued by the 
Australian Accounting Standards Board. None of the mandatory amendments have had a significant impact on the 
company. 

Accounting Standards issued but not yet effect and not early adopted by the 
Company 
The Company has not early adopted and amendments to Accounting Standards and does not anticipate 
application of new accounting standards will impact the company. 
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$ 
 2019 

$ 

3 Profit for the year 
   

The result for the year was derived after charging / (crediting)    
the following items:    

Profit before income tax from continuing operations includes    

the following specific expenses:    

Expenses    

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 335,657  159,083 

 
4 Cash and Cash Equivalents 

   

Reconciliation of cash 
Cash and Cash equivalents reported in the cash flow 

   

statement are reconciled to the equivalent items in the balance    
sheet as follows:    

Term Deposit - ANZ 8,500 
 

8,500 
Cash at Bank - ANZ Bank 260  116 
Cash and Bank - Bendigo 65,752  11,020 
Cash at Bank - State Team Account 10,277  827 
Perth Heat 0070 24  24 
Cash at Bank - Bendigo Business #62265 91,071  2,460,289 

 175,884  2,480,776 
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 2019 
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5 Trade and Other Receivables 
   

Current  
 

 

Trade Debtors                   120,747  36,806 
Less: Provision for Impairment (5,624)  (5,583) 

 115,123  31,223 
    

6 Other Assets    

Current 
Deposit - Keys 

 

582 

  

582 
Prepaid Insurance 26,930  17,144 

 27,512  17,726 

7 Accounts Payable and Other Payables    

Current 
Trade Creditors 

 

58,371 

  

540,422 
Accruals -  273,068 
Credit Cards Payable (1,994)  952 
Superannuation Payable -  4,496 
GST Payable (40,543)  198,665 

 15,834  1,017,603 
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$ 
 2019 
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8 Property, Plant and Equipment 

   

Office Equipment: 49,706  49,706 
At cost (47,397)  (46,332) 
Accumulated depreciation 2,309  3,374 

Leasehold Improvements:    

At cost 10,696,269  6,524,082 
Accumulated depreciation (2,109,980)  (1,775,388) 

                8,586,289  4,748,694 
    
                Total Plant and Equipment                8,588,598                 4,752,068 

 
 

9 Provisions 

   

Current 
   

Provision for Employee Entitlements 28,717  43,374 

 
10 Other Liabilities 

   

Unexpended Grants - Capital - 
 

1,571,729 
Unexpended Grants - Operational 48,569  - 
Insurance Premium Funding 16,172  - 
                 64,741                 1,571,729 

 
    11 Borrowings 

   

Current 

Loan – Baseball Australia 

 
 

12,500 

 
 
 

 
 

12,500 

Non-Current 
Loans - Baseball Australia 

               Leasing Liability 

 
12,500 

                             2 

  
25,000 

                              - 
                             12,502                      25,000 

 
12 Retained Earnings 

   

             Retained earnings at the beginning of the financial period               4,611,587                 3,614,098 

             Net profit attributable to the company                4,161,236                    997,489 
        Retained earnings at the end of the financial period                8,772,823                 4,611,587 
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13 Cash Flow Information 
 

Reconciliation of result for the year to cashflows from 
operating activities. 

Reconciliation of net income to net cash provided by operating 
activities: 

 

Profit after income tax 4,161,236 997,489 
 

Cash flows excluded from profit attributable to operating 
activities 

Non-cash flows in profit 
Depreciation 335,657  159,083 
Grant revenue for capital works (4,430,229)  (1,303,006) 

Changes in assets and liabilities 
(Increase)/decrease in other assets 

 
(9,786) 

  
(17,494) 

(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (83,900)  54,283 
Increase/(decrease) in trade and other payables (121,955)  213,109 
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (14,657)  1,873 
Increase/(decrease) in other liabilities 64,743  - 

 (98,891)  105,337 

14 Revenue and Other Income 
   

Grants and Funding 
- Development Grant 

 
4,398,634 

  
1,334,602 

- Other Grants 320,920  239,500 
Other Income 840,994  886,420 
Total Revenue 5,560,548  2,460,522 
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16 Subsequent Events 
The COVID-19 Pandemic announced by the World Health Organisation during the year is continuing to have a 
negative impact on world-wide business activities. The company initiated procedures to address the health and 
wellbeing of its employees, members, contractors and the Board of directors. The full extent of the impact and 
recovery from COVID-19 is not yet known. The extent of the impact on future revenues, operating costs, carrying 
values of assets and liabilities is also currently unknown. There were no other events that occurred after 30 June 
2020, and/or prior to the signing of the financial statements, that would affect the ongoing structure and financial 
activities of the company. 

17 Registered Office and Principal Place of Business 
Statutory Information 
The registered office of the company is 
Baseball WA Ltd 
Suite 7, 16 Nicholson Road 
SUBIACO WA 6008 

 
The principal place of business is 
Corner Nicholson Road and Wilfred Road 
THORNLIE WA 6108 

18 Share Capital 
 

Issued Capital 
 

56 Fully Paid Ordinary Shares of $0.00 
 

There are no externally imposed capital requirements. 
There have been no changes in the strategy adopted by management to control the capital of the company since 
the prior year. 

19 Economic Dependence 
 

Baseball WA Limited is dependent on the Department of Local Government, Sport and Cultural Industries for a 
significant portion of its revenue used to operate the business. 

 
As at the date of this report, the Board of Directors has no reason to believe the Department of Local Government, 
Sport and Cultural Industries will not continue to support Baseball WA Limited. 
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The directors have determined that the company is not a reporting entity and that this special purpose financial report 
should be prepared in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 2 to the financial statements.  

 

The directors of the company declare that: 
 

1. The financial statements and notes, as set out on pages 5 to 21, present a true and fair view of the 
Company's financial position as at 30 June 2020 and its performance for the year ended on that date in 
accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 2 to the financial statements; 

 
2. The financial statements are in accordance with the Corporations Act 2001, Corporations Regulations 

2001 and other mandatory professional reporting requirements and accounting standards. 

 
3. In the directors' opinion there are reasonable grounds to believe that the company will be able to pay its 

debts as and when they become due and payable. 
 
 
 
 

Director:    
Mr Anthony Mark Beyer 

 
 
 
 
 
 

Secretary:    
Mr Lachlan Dale 

 
 
 
 

Dated this                  day of December 20202nd
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INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF  
BASEBALL WA LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 30 JUNE 2020 

 
Report on the Financial Report 
 
Opinion 
We have audited the accompanying special purpose financial report of Baseball 
WA Limited, which comprises the statement of financial position as at 30 June 
2020, the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income, the 
statement of changes in equity and statements of cash flows, a summary of 
significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes and the directors’ 
declaration. 

In our opinion, the financial report of Baseball WA Limited: 

a) presents a true and fair view of the company’s financial position as at 30 
June 2020 and of its financial performance for the year ended on that date 
in accordance with the accounting policies described in Note 2; and 

b) complying with Australian Accounting Standards to the extent described 
in Note 2 and complying with the Corporations Regulations 2001. 

Emphasis of Matter: Basis of Accounting and Restriction of Distribution 
Without modifying our opinion, we draw attention to Note 2 in the financial 
report, which describes the basis of accounting. The financial statements have 
been prepared to satisfy the needs of the members and the Corporations Act 
2001. As a result, the financial statements may not be suitable for another 
purpose. Our report is intended solely for Baseball WA Ltd and should not be 
distributed to any other party. 

Basis for Opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards.  Our 
responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s 
Responsibilities for the audit of the Financial Report section of our report.  We 
are independent of the company in accordance with the ethical requirements of 
the Corporations Act and the Accounting Professional and Ethical Standards 
Board’s APES Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the Code) that are 
relevant to our audit of the financial report in Australia.  We have also fulfilled our 
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate 
to provide a basis for our opinion.  

 



Baseball WA	 page 91

 

 

INDEPENDENT AUDIT REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF 

BASEBALL WA LIMITED FOR THE YEAR ENDED 
30 JUNE 2020 (continued) 

 

Directors’ responsibility for the Financial Report 
The directors of the company are responsible for the preparation of the special purpose financial 
report that presents fairly in accordance with the accounting policies set out in Note 2 to the 
financial statements and for such internal control as the directors determine necessary to enable 
the preparation and fair presentation of a financial report that is free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial report, the directors are responsible for assessing the company’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters relating to going concern and 
using the going concern basis of accounting unless the Board either intends to liquidate the 
company or cease operations, or have no realistic alternative to do so. 

Auditor’s responsibility for the Audit of the Financial Report 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial report as a whole is 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report 
that includes our opinion.  Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Australian Auditing Standards will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists.  Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and 
are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to 
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of this financial report. 

A further description of our responsibilities for the audit of the financial report is located at the 
Auditing and Assurance Standards Board website at: http://www.auasb.gov.au/Home.aspx.  
This description forms part of our auditor’s report. 

 
 
 
________________________________ 
HTG PARTNERS 
AUDIT ASSURANCE DIVISION 
 
 
 
 
________________________________ 
TIMOTHY TURNER 
REGISTERED COMPANY AUDITOR 
 
Signed at Perth this 2nd day of December 2020  
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